
Covington: Unmatched quality of life 
CITY OF COVINGTON 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
www.covingtonwa.gov 

 
Tuesday, May 14, 2013                                                                               City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                   16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
**Note** A Special Meeting is scheduled from 5:30 to 7:00 p.m.  

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER – approximately 7:00 p.m. 
   
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION - NONE 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per speaker.  
Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  April 23 Regular Meeting Minutes (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson) 

 
NEW BUSINESS  
1. Discuss and Consider Adopting 2013 International Building & Fire Codes (Hart/Meyers) 
2. Present Draft Six-Year 2014-2019 Transportation Improvement Program (Vondran) 
3. Status and Progress of the Hawk Subarea Plan and Planned Action EIS (Hart) 
4. Discuss Council Representation at Meetings with Four-Year Universities (Matheson) 
5. Presentation of 2012 Year End Financials (Hendrickson) 
6. 2013 First Quarter Financial Report (Hendrickson) 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See notes on Public Comments above 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – If Needed 
  
ADJOURN  
 
For disability accommodations call 253-480-2400 at least 24 hours in advance.  For TDD relay service call (800) 833-6384 and 
ask the operator to dial 253-480-2400.  

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�


 

Consent Agenda Item C-1 
Covington City Council Meeting 

Date:  May 14, 2013   
 
SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  APRIL 23, 2013 CITY COUNCIL  REGULAR 

MEETING MINUTES 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Sharon G. Scott, City Clerk 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  Proposed Summary 
 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION:  
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance   _____ Resolution     X     Motion              Other  
 

Councilmember __________ moves, Councilmember ___________ 
seconds, to approve the April 23, 2013 City Council Regular 
Meeting Minutes. 

 
 
 

1 of 131



Unapproved Draft – April 23, 2013 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  May 14, 2013 
 

 1 

City of Covington 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday, April 23, 2013 
 
(This meeting was recorded and will be retained for a period of six years from the date of the 
meeting). 
 
The Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Covington was called to order in the City 
Council Chambers, 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington, Washington, Tuesday, April 
23, 2013, at 7:05 p.m., with Mayor Harto presiding. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Margaret Harto, David Lucavish, Marlla Mhoon, Jim Scott, and Jeff Wagner. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS ABSENT: 
Mark Lanza and Wayne Snoey. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Scott moved and Councilmember Wagner seconded to 
excuse Councilmembers Lanza and Snoey who had previously informed Council.  Vote:  5-
0.  Motion carried. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Derek Matheson, City Manager; Glenn Akramoff, Public Works Director; Noreen Beaufrere, Personnel 
Manager; Richard Hart, Community Development Director; Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director; Kevin 
Klason, Covington Police Chief; Karla Slate, Community Relations Coordinator; Scott Thomas, 
Parks & Recreation Director; Sara Springer, City Attorney; Pat Patterson, Recreation Manager; 
Ethan Newton, Aquatics Supervisor; and Sharon Scott, City Clerk/Executive Assistant. 
 
Mayor Harto opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
Council Action:  Councilmember Wagner moved and Councilmember Mhoon seconded to 
approve the Agenda as amended to remove recognition of BPAC which occurred during 
the dinner and Item 3 which was deferred.  Vote:  5-0.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION:   

• Community Development Director Richard Hart accepted the May 2013 National 
Building Safety Month Proclamation. 
 

• Public Works Director Glenn Akramoff accepted the May 12-18, 2013 National 
Transportation Week Proclamation and the May 19-25, 2013 National Public Works 
Week Proclamation. 
 

• Aquatics Supervisor Ethan Newton accepted the May 2013 National Water Safety Month 
Proclamation. 
 

2 of 131



Unapproved Draft – April 23, 2013 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  May 14, 2013 
 

 2 

PUBLIC COMMENT:   
Mayor Harto called for public comments. 
 
George Pearson, 18623 SE 265th Street, Covington resident, spoke regarding his appreciation 
of Brian Bykonen for the excellent code enforcement work he performs.  Mr. Pearson also spoke 
regarding his appreciation to Republic Services for its storm debris clean up assistance in 
Timberlane.  In addition, Mr. Pearson thanked the Public Works Department, in particular John 
Gaudette, for assistance during a recent clean up event. 
 
There being no further comments, Mayor Harto closed the public comment period. 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA: 
C-1. Minutes:  March 26, 2013 City Council Special & Regular Meetings Minutes and April 9, 

2013 City Council Special & Regular Meeting Minutes. 
 

C-2. Vouchers:  Vouchers #29225—29280, in the Amount of $111,380.68, Dated April 3, 
2013; and Paylocity Payroll Checks #1001172694-1001172704 Inclusive, Plus Employee 
Direct Deposits in the Amount of $147,185.90, Dated April 12, 2013.. 
 

C-3. Accept City Hall Carpet Replacement Project. 
 

Council Action:  Councilmember Wagner moved and Councilmember Lucavish seconded 
to approve the Consent Agenda.  Vote:  5-0.  Motion carried. 
 
REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS
Human Services Commission – No report on the April 11 meeting. 

: 

 
Arts Commission – Chair Sandy Bisordi reported on the April 11 meeting. 
 
Parks & Recreation Commission – Chair Steven Pand reported on the April 17 meeting. 
 
Planning Commission – Chair Daniel Key reported on the April 4 and April 18 meetings. 
 
Economic Development Council – Co-Chair Jeff Wagner reported on the March 28 meeting. 
 
CONTINUED BUSINESS: 
1.  Discuss Aquatics Fees. 
 
Parks & Recreation Director Scott Thomas gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Councilmembers provided comments and asked questions, and Mr. Thomas and Mr. Matheson 
provided responses. 
 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to direct staff not to waive the fees, but be 
willing to sit down with the school district and discuss ways to creatively look at options 
that might be available from either side. 
 

3 of 131



Unapproved Draft – April 23, 2013 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  May 14, 2013 
 

 3 

2.  Discuss Field Use Fees. 
 
Parks & Recreation Director Scott Thomas gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Councilmembers provided several suggestions and asked questions, and Mr. Thomas provided 
responses. 
 
NEW BUSINESS:  
3.  Surface Water Management Programs Presentation & Reissuance of Permit (removed from 
agenda). 
 
4.  Discuss and Consider Urban Forestry Strategic Plan. 
 
Public Works Director Glenn Akramoff gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Councilmember members provided comments and asked questions, and Mr. Akramoff provided 
responses. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Wagner moved and Councilmember Scott seconded to 
adopt the Urban Forestry Strategic Plan.  Vote:  5-0.  Motion carried. 
 
5.  Discuss Parks and Recreation Commission Recommendation for Park Name.   
 
Parks & Recreation Director Scott Thomas gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Councilmembers discussed and asked questions and Mr. Thomas and Ms. Slate provided 
responses. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Wagner moved and Councilmember Lucavish seconded 
to accept Covington Community Park as recommended by the Parks and Recreation 
Commission.  Vote:  5-0.  Motion carried. 
 
6.  Town Center Update. 
 
City Manager Derek Matheson gave the staff report on this item. 
 
7.  New City Hall Feasibility Update. 
 
City Manager Derek Matheson gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Councilmembers provided comments and asked questions, and Mr. Matheson and Mr. 
Hendrickson provided responses. 
 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to direct staff to include a new city hall and 
town center park in the process to evaluate a future ballot measure for parks and 
recreation and to direct staff to schedule a council review of the draft Town Center 
Alternative Process request for qualifications. 

4 of 131



Unapproved Draft – April 23, 2013 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  May 14, 2013 
 

 4 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS: 
Councilmembers and staff discussed Future Agenda Topics and made comments. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
Mayor Harto called for public comments. 
 
There being no comments, Mayor Harto closed the public comment period. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:10 p.m. 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Joan Michaud      Sharon Scott 
Senior Deputy City Clerk    City Clerk 
 

5 of 131



 

Consent Agenda Item C-2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  May 14, 2013 
 
 
SUBJECT:  APROVAL OF VOUCHERS.  
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S)

 

:  Vouchers #29281—29355, in the Amount of $273,004.63, Dated April 
16, 2013; Vouchers #29356-29422, in the Amount of $159,048.17, Dated May 1, 2013; 
Paylocity Payroll Checks #1001206298-1001206313 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits 
in the Amount of $161,857.33, Dated April 26, 2013; and Paylocity Payroll Checks 
#1001242452-1001242470 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits in the Amount of 
$153,021.88, Dated May 10, 2013. 

PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION: Not applicable. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance _____ Resolution     X      Motion            Other  

 
Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _________________ 
seconds, to approve for payment:  Vouchers #29281—29355, in the 
Amount of $273,004.63, Dated April 16, 2013; Vouchers #29356-29422, in 
the Amount of $159,048.17, Dated May 1, 2013; Paylocity Payroll Checks 
#1001206298-1001206313 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits in the 
Amount of $161,857.33, Dated April 26, 2013; and Paylocity Payroll 
Checks #1001242452-1001242470 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits 
in the Amount of $153,021.88, Dated May 10, 2013. 
 
 
 
 

6 of 131



7 of 131



8 of 131



9 of 131



10 of 131



11 of 131



12 of 131



13 of 131



14 of 131



15 of 131



16 of 131



17 of 131



18 of 131



19 of 131



20 of 131



21 of 131



22 of 131



23 of 131



24 of 131



25 of 131



26 of 131



27 of 131



28 of 131



29 of 131



30 of 131



31 of 131



32 of 131



33 of 131



34 of 131



Agenda Item 1 
Covington City Council Meeting 

Date:  May 14, 2013 
 

SUBJECT:  PROPOSED ORDINANCE ADOPTING 2012 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING 
CODE AND INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE UPDATES AND 
AMENDMENTS.  

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 

Robert L. Meyers, Building Official 
Jon Napier, Fire Marshal 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  
1. Proposed ordinance adopting amendments to CMC Title 15 to conform to updates and 

amendments to the 2012 International Codes.  
2. Text of proposed amendments to CMC Title 15 relating to 2012 International Building Code 

and 2012 International Residential Code updates. 
3. Text of proposed amendments to CMC Title 15 relating to 2012 International Fire Code 

updates and amendments. 
 
PREPARED BY:   Robert Meyers, Building Official 
 Jon Napier, Fire Marshal 
           
EXPLANATION: The proposed amendments to Title 15 in the Covington Municipal Code 
(CMC) are routine updates that reflect the most recent (2012) changes to the International 
Codes—the International Building Code (IBC), the International Residential Code (IRC), and the 
International Fire Code (IFC).  The 2012 IBC, IRC, and IFC have also been adopted by the state 
in Chapter 19.27 of the Revised Code of Washington (RCW), to be effective July 1, 2013.  
Therefore, we must amend Title 15 to conform to the state code changes.   
 
The additional proposed local amendments to the IFC will reduce the cost of building projects by 
eliminating the local fire alarm threshold while maintaining the life safety provisions within the 
model code language, standardize requirements to help streamline reporting and inspections, and 
create additional flexibility in development regulations in the area of fire department access and 
water supply.  
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
1) No Action or Deny.  Not adopting the proposed updates to the CMC would cause our code to 

be out of conformance with state code, as the state has already adopted the 2012 versions of the 
IBC, IRC, and IFC.  

2) Delay adoption to allow additional discussion and changes at the direction of council.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
There is no expected fiscal impact. 
 

35 of 131



CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  __X__Ordinance     ____Resolution     ____Motion     ____Other 
 

Councilmember _____________ moves, Councilmember ______________ 
seconds to approve an ordinance adopting modifications to CMC Title 15, 
Buildings and Construction which align the CMC with the newly adopted 
2012 International Codes. 

 

REVIEWED BY:    
City Manager  
Community Development Director 
Finance Director 
City Attorney 

36 of 131



 

ORDINANCE NO. __-13 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, AMENDING CHAPTERS 
15.05 AND 15.20 OF THE COVINGTON MUNICIPAL CODE TO 
CONFORM WITH UPDATES TO RCW 19.27, THE REVISED 
WASHINGTON STATE BUILDING CODE ACT, ADOPTING THE 2012 
INTERNATIONAL CODES, WHICH GO INTO EFFECT ON JULY 1, 2013. 

 
WHEREAS, both the City of Covington and the state have adopted the International 

Codes by reference to regulate construction and development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the state has updated Chapter 19.27 of the Revised Code of Washington 
(RCW), the Washington State Building Code Act, to adopt the 2012 versions of the International 
Codes, effective July 1, 2013; and 
 

WHEREAS, certain existing chapters of Title 15, Buildings and Construction, of the 
Covington Municipal Code (CMC) will not conform to RCW 19.27 after July 1, 2013; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council must update the CMC’s building and construction codes so 
that Title 15 of the CMC is consistent with RCW 19.27 effective July 1, 2013; and 
 

WHEREAS, the SEPA Responsible Official for the city determined that adoption of this 
ordinance is categorically exempt as a procedural action under WAC 197-11-800(20). 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, KING 
COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  Amended Chapter 15.05 of the Covington Municipal Code is adopted in the 
form as attached as Exhibit 1 and herein incorporated by this reference. 
 

Section 2.  Amended Chapter 15.20 of the Covington Municipal Code is adopted in the 
form as attached as Exhibit 2 and herein incorporated by this reference. 
 

Section 3.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect as of July 1, 2013, after proper 
posting and publication.  A summary of this ordinance may be published in lieu of publishing the 
ordinance in its entirety. 
 

Section 4.  If any provision of this ordinance, or ordinance modified by it, is determined 
to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provision of this ordinance and 
ordinances and/or resolutions modified by it shall remain in force and effect. 
 
 
 
 Passed by the City Council on the ___th day of May, 2013. 

ATTACHMENT 1

37 of 131



 

 

_______________________                                             
Mayor Margaret Harto 

     
PUBLISHED:   May __, 2013                         

 
EFFECTIVE:    July 1, 2013                       

 
Attested: 
 
_________________________ 
Sharon Scott 
City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_________________________ 
Sara Springer 
City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

38 of 131



1 

EXHIBIT 1 
 
 

 
Chapter 15.05 

INTERNATIONAL CODES ADOPTION 
 
Sections: 
15.05.010 Title. 
15.05.020 Purpose and scope. 
15.05.040 Referenced codes. 
15.05.050 Conflicts among codes. 
15.05.060 Administration and enforcement of code. 
15.05.070 Definitions. 
15.05.080 Building Official. 
15.05.090 Executive Body.  
15.05.100 Fire Marshal. 
15.05.110 International Property Maintenance Code (20092012 Edition) amendments. 
15.05.120 Washington State Manufactured Homes (Mobile Homes) Installation  

Standards – General. 
15.05.130 Washington State Modular Homes and Modular Nonresidential 

(Commercial) Installation Standards – General. 
15.05.140 Appeals. 
 
 
  
 
15.05.010 Title. 
 
This chapter shall be known as the International Codes Adoption Chapter.  
 
 
15.05.020 Purpose and scope. 
 
(1) The purpose of the International Codes Adoption Chapter is to regulate construction and or 
development of site work within the incorporated boundaries of City of Covington. Further it is 
the purpose of this chapter to adopt locally those State mandated laws and codes regulating 
construction in order to promote the health, safety and welfare of the occupants or users of 
buildings and structures and the general public as a whole by enforcement of building codes 
throughout this jurisdiction. 
 
(2) It is also the purpose of this title, through enforcement of referenced codes, to regulate the 
safe and proper function of elements of a site or site improvement work and essential systems of 
a building including plumbing and sanitation, water conservation, heating, air conditioning, 
ventilation, energy, efficiency, fire suppression systems, alarm systems, and Fire Department 
access. 

ATTACHMENT 2

39 of 131



2 

 
(3) Notwithstanding any provision of this title or the codes adopted by this title to the contrary, 
this title establishes duties owed to the public as a whole and not any duties to protect any person 
or class of persons.  
 
(4) Except as otherwise provided for in this title, the provisions of this title shall apply to all of 
the following:  

(a)   New construction and additions; and  
(b) Substantial remodels or additions, which must meet the requirements for new 

construction; and  
(c)  Additions, alterations and remodels to existing buildings. 

 
 
 
15.05.040 Referenced codes. 
 
Pursuant to and by the authority of Chapters 19.27, 19.27A, 36.70A, 43.22, and 70.77 RCW, the 
following codes and standards are adopted by reference: 
 
(1) The International Building Code (20092012 Edition) published by the International Code 
Council, Inc, together with: Appendix H, Signs; Appendix I, Patio Covers; and Appendix J, 
Grading. 
 

(a) Section 504 of the International Building Code, is amended by adding the following new 
subsection 504.4 titled Additional height increases: 

 
Sec. 504.4. Additional height increases. For Group B or Group R, Divisions 1 and 2 
Occupancies, the permitted increase of one story allowed by subsection 504.2 may be 
increased to two stories and to a maximum height of 75 feet and not meeting the definition of 
a high rise building, when all of the following conditions are met: 

 
(1) An automatic fire sprinkler system complying with Section 903.3.1.1 of the International 
Building Code (IBC) is installed throughout with the installation of quick response sprinkler 
heads in all areas where the use of these heads is allowed.  

 
(2) Vertical exit enclosures are constructed as smoke proof enclosures or pressurized stair 
enclosures in accordance with IBC Section 909.20, 

 
(3) Standby power is supplied for light, emergency, and any exit enclosure pressurization 
systems used, as provided in Sections 403.10 .4.8 and 909.20.6.2 of the IBC, and the adopted 
edition of the National Electrical Code. Connection ahead of service disconnect means shall 
be permitted for standby power. 

 
(4) Walls separating dwelling units or sleeping units, and corridor walls in Group R, 
Divisions 1 and 2 Occupancies shall be constructed as 1-hour fire partitions as provided in 
Section 708 of the IBC. Reduction of the fire-resistance rating is not permitted.  

40 of 131



3 

 
(5) All exterior walls, including those with a fire separation distance of more than five feet, 
shall be of not less than 1-hour fire-resistance rated construction on the interior and the 
exterior of the wall. 

 
(6)Structural observation is provided during construction in accordance with Sections 1702 
and 1709.1 of the IBC. 

 
(7) An emergency voice/alarm communication system complying with subsections 
907.2.12.2 through 907.2.12.2.3 of the IBC is installed. 

 
(8) Approved supervised indicating control valves shall be provided at the point of 
connection to the automatic fire sprinkler system riser on each floor. 

 
(9) Structures meeting the requirements of this subsection shall have an automatic sprinkler 
zone per floor. All zones must report independently. 
 

This shall be known as the International Building Code or the IBC, published by the 
International Code Council, Inc.; 
 
(2) The International Residential Code (20092012 Edition), including Chapters 1 through 10, 12 
through 24 and Chapter 44, published by the International Code Council Inc, together with: 
Appendix E, Manufactured Housing Used as Dwellings; Appendix G, Swimming Pools, Spas 
and Hot Tubs; and Appendix K, Sound Transmission. 

 
(a) IRC Section R108.4 amended Work commencing before permit issuance. 
Any person who commences any work on a building, structure, electrical, gas, 
mechanical or plumbing system before obtaining the necessary permits shall be subject to 
a fee established by the building official that shall be in addition to the required permit 
fees. 

 
This shall be known as the International Residential Code for One and Two Family Dwellings or 
the IRC published by the International Code Council Inc.; 
 
(3) The International Mechanical Code (20092012 Edition), published by the International Code 
Council, Inc, together with Appendix A, Combustion Air Openings and Chimney Connector 
Pass-Troughs.  This shall be known as the International Mechanical Code or the IMC; 
 
(4) The International Fire Code as it may be specifically adopted in Chapter 15.20 CMC.  This 
shall be known as the International Fire Code or the IFC; 
 
(5) The Uniform Plumbing Code and Uniform Plumbing Code Standards (20092012 Edition), 
including chapters 1 through 11, chapter 13 and chapter 14, published by the International 
Association of Plumbing and Mechanical Officials, as adopted by the State of Washington 
pursuant to Chapter 51-56 WAC, together with: Appendix A, Recommended Rules for Sizing 
the Water Supply System; B, Explanatory Notes on Combination Waste and Vent Systems; 

41 of 131



4 

Appendix D, Sizing Stormwater Drainage Systems; Appendix E, Manufactured/Mobile Home 
Parks and Recreational Vehicle Parks; and Appendix I, Installation Standards; 

 
This shall be known as the Uniform Plumbing Code or the UPC, published by the International 
Association of Plumbing and Mechanical Officials; 
 
(6) The International Property Maintenance Code (20092012 Edition), published by the 
International Code Council, Inc.  This shall be known as the International Property Maintenance 
Code or the IMPC; 
 
(7) The International Washington State Energy Conservation Code as amended and published by 
the Washington State Building Code, Chapter 51-11R and 51-11C WAC.  This shall be known 
as the IECWSEC; 
 
(8) The International Existing Building Code as amended and published by the Washington State 
Building Code, Chapter 51-50 WAC.  This shall be known as the IEBC; 
 
 
(9) The Washington State Manufactured Homes Installation Requirements, or Mobile Homes 
Installation Requirements. Pursuant to Chapter 19.27 RCW and RCW 43.22.440, the installation 
standards of WAC 296-150M-0020, 296-150M-0500, and 296-150M-0600 through 296-150M-
0730 together with the reference standards listed therein; and 
 
(10) The Washington State Factory Built Housing and Commercial Structures Installation 
Requirements, or Modular Installation Requirements. Pursuant to Chapter 19.27 RCW and RCW 
43.22.455, the installation standards of Chapter 296-150E WAC together with the reference 
standards listed therein. 
 
Note: Washington State amendments are not reprinted within the body of this Chapter.  
 
 
15.05.050 Conflicts among codes. 
 
In case of conflict among the above adopted codes, the hierarchy of the codes adopted by CMC 
15.05.040(1), (2), (3) and (4) shall be in order they appear in section 15.05.040. The first named 
code shall supersede and shall govern over those following, except as specifically described 
within Chapters 51-11 through 51-47 WAC.  
 
 
15.05.060 Administration and enforcement of code. 
 
The City of Covington Community Development Department is charged with the administration 
and enforcement of the codes referenced in section 15.05.040. To this end, the Building Official 
and the Fire Marshal shall provide a system that will retain necessary personnel, conduct 
inspections and investigations, issue appropriate permits, maintain necessary records and files, 

42 of 131



5 

and do, or cause to be done, all things necessary and proper for the administration and 
enforcement of the codes.  
 
 
15.05.070 Definitions. 
 
(1) The definitions contained in the codes adopted by reference in CMC 15.05.040 together with 
the definitions contained within the applicable RCW and WAC provisions shall apply to the 
enforcement of this chapter unless amended in this section. 
 
(2) Where terms, phrases and words are not defined, they shall have their ordinary accepted 
meanings within the context with which they are used. Webster’s Third New International 
Dictionary of the English language, Unabridged, copyright 1986, shall be considered as 
providing ordinarily accepted meanings. 
 
(3) Because this section contains amended definitions or terms, a full alphabetical listing of 
definitions is not duplicated here. Where a term or phrase is defined in this section, the definition 
printed in this section amends the corresponding definitions in the codes or laws adopted by 
reference.  
 
(4 )“Substantial remodel or addition” means any alterations, remodels, or repairs to existing 
structures in which the area of the additions, alterations, or repairs exceeds more than 50 percent 
of the habitable area of the existing structure. In the case of a series of additions, alterations, or 
repairs projects, this title shall become effective at the point where in any three-year period the 
cumulative area of additions, alterations, or repairs exceeds 50 percent of the area of the structure 
at the time such additions, alterations, or repairs are commenced or any alteration, remodel, 
repair or addition which exceeds 50 percent of the value of the existing structure. 
 
 
15.05.080 Building Official.  
 
“Building Official” shall mean the officer or other duly authorized representative as designated 
by the Director of Community Development, charged with the administration and enforcement 
of the following codes: 
 
(1) International Building Code;  
(2) International Residential Code;  
(3) International Mechanical Code;  
(4) Uniform Plumbing Code;  
(5) International Property Maintenance Code;  
(6) Washington State Energy Code;  
(7) International Existing Building Code 
(8) Washington State Manufactured Homes Installation Requirements; and 
(9) Washington State Modular Installation Requirements. 
 
 

43 of 131



6 

15.05.090 Executive Body. 
 
“Executive Body” shall mean the City of Covington Council.  
 
 
15.05.100 Fire Marshal. 
 
“Fire Marshal” shall mean the fire code official, officer or other duly authorized representative as 
designated by the Director of Community Development, charged with the administration and 
enforcement of the International Fire Code 
 
 
15.05.110  International Property Maintenance Code (20092012 Edition) amendments 
 
(1) The International Property Maintenance Code (20092012 Edition) is amended by deleting 
Section 103 title and replacing it with:  
 

Administration and Enforcement of Property Maintenance Inspection. 
 
(2) The International Property Maintenance Code (20092012 Edition) is amended by deleting 
Section 103.1 and replacing it with:  
 

The official in charge of enforcing and administering the International 
Property Maintenance Code shall be known as the code official. “Code 
Official” shall mean the Building Official or the designee of the City 
Manager. The Code Official is responsible for the enforcement and 
administration if the International Property Maintenance Code (20092012 
Edition). All references within this code to “Department of Property 
Maintenance Inspection” shall mean the “City of Covington”.   

 
(3) The International Property Maintenance Code (20092012 Edition) is amended by deleting 
Section 103.2. 
 
 (4) The International Property Maintenance Code (20092012 Edition), Section 109.5 is amended 
by adding the following: 
 

Assessment. Upon certification of the assessment amount being due and 
owing, the county treasurer shall enter the amount of the assessment upon 
the tax rolls against the property for the current year and the same shall 
become a part of the general taxes for that year to be collected at the same 
time and with interest at such rates and in such manner as provided for in 
RCW 84.56.020, as now or later amended, for delinquent taxes, and when 
collected to be deposited to the credit of the general fund of the city. 

 
Priority. The assessment shall constitute a lien against the property which 
shall be of equal rank with state, county and municipal taxes. 

44 of 131



7 

 
The code official shall keep an itemized accounting of the expenses 
incurred by the City of Covington in the course of repair or demolition of 
any building pursuant to the provisions of Section 110.3 of this code. 
Upon completion of the demolition or repair work as ordered, the code 
official will prepare a report specifying the work performed and the 
itemized cost of such work and the legal description of the property upon 
which the work was performed. 

 
The code official shall prepare and forward to the legal owner of the said 
property an itemized billing of the total cost for the repair or demolition as 
required by Section 110.3 of this code. Such billing shall be sent by 
certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the owner as the owner’s 
name and address appear on the last equalized tax roll of King County. 
Said bill shall be due and payable within sixty (60) days of receipt. 

 
The owner may file with the applicable department a written appeal to the 
Hearing Examiner within thirty (30) days of receipt of the billing pursuant 
to the procedures outlined in Chapter 14.35 CMC.  Within thirty (30) days 
of the Hearing Examiner’s decision, the balance of the billing due to the 
city shall become due and payable and if unpaid shall become a special 
assessment against the property as a lien. 
 

15.05.120 Washington State Manufactured Homes (Mobile Homes) Installation 
Standards – General. 
The City of Covington adopts the following sections pursuant to the authority of Chapters 19.27 
and 43.22 RCW: 

(1) Permit Required. 

(a) Prior to the placement and/or installation of a mobile home on a parcel of land or on a 
site in a mobile home park, an installation permit must be obtained from the City of 
Covington Community Development Department. 

(b) Installing a manufactured home (mobile home) without first having obtained the 
required permit is not permitted and is subject to the penalties and the serving of a stop 
work order. 

(2) Complete Application. Pursuant to RCW 19.27.095 and 19.27.097, and in addition to the 
requirements of IRC Section R105.3, no building permit application shall be complete unless or 
until evidence of an adequate water supply and evidence of water availability and sewer 
availability or an adequate sewage disposal system for the intended use of the building is 
provided from an approved agency for structures where plumbing fixtures are part of the 
proposed building permit application. 

45 of 131



8 

(a) Upon building permit application, where parcels are serviced by on-site sewage 
disposal systems, an accepted building site application is required for: 

(i) New construction; 

(ii) Additions where there is an increase in the floor area which extends beyond the 
original exterior walls; 

(iii) Alteration or remodeling where the total number of bedrooms is increased; or 

(iv) Change in use which results in an increase in the water/sewage volume or 
potential health risk. 

(b) Upon building permit application, a sewer permit or a sewer and water availability 
letter from the utility district are required for new single-family residences. 

(3) Inspections. 

(a) The following inspections are required: 

(i) Footing and foundation inspection; 

(ii) Fuel gas piping, if applicable; and 

(iii) Final inspection. 

(b) Occupancy of a manufactured home (mobile home) shall not be allowed prior to 
receiving an approved final inspection. 

(c) Occupancy of a manufactured home prior to receiving an approved final inspection is 
subject to the penalties and the serving of a stop work order. (Ord. 07-07 § 2) 

15.05.130 Washington State Modular Homes and Modular Nonresidential 
(Commercial) Installation Standards – General. 
The City of Covington adopts the following sections pursuant to the authority of Chapters 19.27 
and 43.22 RCW and RCW 35.21.684: 

(1) Permit Required. 

(a) Prior to the placement and/or installation of a modular home or modular commercial 
building on a parcel of land or on a site in a mobile home park, an installation permit must 
be obtained from the City of Covington Community Development Department. 

46 of 131



9 

(b) Installing a modular home or modular commercial building without first having 
obtained the required permit is not permitted and is subject to the penalties and the serving 
of a stop work order. 

(2) Complete Application. Pursuant to RCW 19.27.095 and 19.27.097, and in addition to the 
requirements of IRC Section R105.3, no building permit application shall be complete unless or 
until the applicant provides the City with a letter of sewer and water availability from the utility 
district or evidence of an adequate water supply and evidence of an adequate sewage disposal 
system for the intended use of the building is provided from an approved agency for structures 
where plumbing fixtures are part of the proposed building permit application or when an 
application to install a nonresidential modular structure is submitted. 

(a) Upon building permit application, where parcels are serviced by on-site sewage 
disposal systems, an accepted building site application or an accepted building clearance is 
required for: 

(i) New construction; 

(ii) Additions where there is an increase in the floor area which extends beyond the 
original exterior walls; 

(iii) Alteration or remodeling where the total number of bedrooms is increased; or 

(iv) Change in use which results in an increase in the water/sewage volume or 
potential health risk. 

(b) Upon building permit application, a sewer permit and an accepted building clearance 
are required for new single-family residences, new duplexes, new multifamily, and all 
commercial permits. 

(3) Inspections. 

(a) The following inspections are required: 

(i) Footing and foundation inspection; 

(ii) Fuel gas piping, if applicable; and 

(iii) Final inspection. 

(b) Occupancy of a modular home shall not be allowed prior to receiving an approved final 
inspection. 

47 of 131



10 

(c) Occupancy of a modular commercial building shall not be allowed prior to receiving a 
certificate of occupancy. 

(d) Occupancy of a modular home prior to receiving an approved final inspection is subject 
to penalties and the serving of a stop work order. (Ord. 07-07 § 2) 

15.05.135 Uniform Plumbing Code (UPC) amendments. 
The 2006 2012 UPC adopted in CMC 15.05.040 (5) is amended as follows: 

(1) UPC Section 1101.1 is replaced with the following: 

All roofs, paved areas, yards, courts, and courtyards shall be drained into a separate 
storm sewer system or to some other place of disposal satisfactory of the Authority 
Having Jurisdiction. In the case of one- and two-family dwellings, stormwater may 
be discharged on flat areas such as streets or lawns so long as the stormwater shall 
flow away from the building, shall flow away from adjoining property, shall not 
create a nuisance, and shall be in accordance with the approved drainage report. 

(2) Section 1101.3 has been amended by WAC 51-56-1100. 

(3) Section 1101.5.2 is amended with the following: 

Subsoil drains shall discharge downstream of water quality treatment or flow control 
facilities unless such facilities are designed to accommodate subsoil drain discharges 
and documented in the approved drainage report. 

(4) Section 11.01.11.2.2.2 is replaced with the following: 

The secondary roof drains shall connect to the vertical piping of the primary storm 
drainage conductor downstream of any horizontal offset below the roof. The primary 
storm drainage system shall connect to the building stormwater system that connects 
to the on-site conveyance system. The combined secondary and primary roof drain 
systems shall be sized in accordance with Section 1106.0 based on double the rainfall 
rate for the local area. 

(5) Section 1101.12 has been amended by WAC 51-56-1100. 

(6) Sections 1103.1, 1103.3 and 1103.4 are deleted. 

(7) Section 1104.3 is replaced with the following: 

(a) Combining storm and sanitary drainage is prohibited. 

(8) Section 1108.0 is not adopted per WAC 51-56-1100. (Ord. 13-09 § 20) 

48 of 131



11 

15.05.140 Appeals. 
(1) Creation. There is created a single, consolidated board of appeals to exercise those powers 
and determine those matters as specified in International Building Code Section 112, 
International Residential Code Section R112, International Mechanical Code Section 109, 
International Fire Code Section 108, Uniform Plumbing Code Section 102.4, and International 
Property Maintenance Code Section 111.1. 

(2) Name. All references to “Board of Appeals” in this chapter shall mean the City’s Hearing 
Examiner. 

(3) Filings. Notices of appeal of orders, decisions or determinations of the Building Official or 
Fire Marshal shall be filed with the City of Covington Community Development Department 
within 30 days of the order, decision or determination. (Ord. 07-07 § 2) 

 
. 

49 of 131



                                                                                                                             

1 

EXHIBIT 2 
 
 Chapter 15.20  

FIRE CODE 
 
Sections: 
15.20.010 Adoption 
15.20.020 Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 1, Scope and 

Administration. 
15.20.030 Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 2, Definitions. 
15.20.030040 Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 3, General 

Requirements 
15.20.040050 Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 5, Fire Service 

Features.   
15.20.050060 Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 6, Building Services 

and Systems. 
15.20.060070 Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 7, Fire-Resistance-

Rated Construction. 
15.20.070080 Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 9, Fire Protection 

Systems. 
15.20.090 Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 11, Construction 

Requirements for Existing Buildings.  
15.20.080100 Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 4780, Reference 

Standards.  
15.20.090110 Amendments to the International Fire Code – Appendix B, Fire-Flow 

Requirements for Buildings. 
 
 
15.20.010 Adoption.  
 
The International Fire Code with Appendix B, 2009  2012  Edition, as published by the 
International Code Council, as amended in Chapters  51-54A WAC, together with amendments, 
additions, and deletions adopted by reference, and together with Covington modifications, are 
adopted as the City of Covington Fire Code, and referred to as “this Code” in this Chapter. 
 
15.20.020. Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 1, Scope and 
Administration.  The following local amendments to Chapter 1 of the International Fire Code, 
entitled “Scope and Administration,” are hereby adopted and incorporated into the International 
Fire Code: 
 
A. Section 104 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following new 
subsection 104.1.1: 

104.1.1. Retained authority – Additional conditions. The fire code 
official retains the authority to impose additional conditions where the 
official determines it necessary to mitigate identified fire protection 
impacts and problematic fire protection systems. These conditions 

ATTACHMENT 3

50 of 131



                                                                                                                             

2 

may include, by way of example and without limitation, increased 
setbacks, use of fire retardant materials, installation and/or 
modification of standpipes, fire sprinkler and fire alarm systems. 

 
B. Section 105 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following new 

subsection 105.1.4: 

105.1.4.  Term. Operational permits issued in accordance with this 
code shall be valid for a 12 month period and are renewable at the end 
of that 12 month term. 

 
C. Section 105 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following new 

subsection 105.6.47: 

105.6.47.  Commercial Kitchen. An operational permit is required 
for all commercial kitchens with type I hood systems. 

 
D. Section 105 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following new 

subsection 105.6.48: 

105.6.48.  Emergency and standby power systems. An operational 
permit is required for code required emergency or standby power 
systems identified in NFPA 110. 

 

E. Section 105 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following new 

subsection 105.7.15: 

105.7.1517.  Emergency and standby power systems. A 
construction permit is required for the installation of a code required 
emergency or standby power systems identified in NFPA 110. 

 
F. Section  108 of the International Fire Code is amended to read as follows: 

108 Appeals. In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions 
or determinations made by the building official, fire chief, or Fire 
Marshal relative to the suitability of alternate materials and types of 
construction and to provide for reasonable application and 
interpretation of the provisions of the International Fire Code, the City 
of Covington hearing examiner is designated as the board of appeals 
created pursuant to Section 108 of the International Fire Code adopted 
in CMC Title 15 above. The city hearing examiner shall constitute the 
board of appeals for all matters concerning the application of the 
International codes cited in this section. Appeals to the hearing 
examiner shall be made pursuant to Chapter 14.45 CMC.  The city 
hearing examiner shall have no authority relative to interpretation of 
the administrative provisions of this code.  
 

51 of 131



                                                                                                                             

3 

G. Section 113.3 of the International Fire Code is amended to read as follows. 
 

113.3 Work commencing before permit issuance. When work is 
started or proceeded prior to obtaining approval or required permits, 
the ordinary fees shall be doubled. The payment of such double fee 
shall not relieve any persons from fully complying with the 
requirement of this code in the execution of the work nor from any 
other penalties prescribed by this code. 
 

 
15.20.030.  Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 2, Definitions.  The 
following local amendment to Chapter 2 of the International Fire Code, entitled “Definitions,” is 
hereby adopted and incorporated into the International Fire Code: 
 
A. Section 202 of the International Fire Code is amended as follows: 

PROBLEMATIC FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEM. A fire protection 
system that generates repeated preventable alarms. 

 
 
15.20.030040.  Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 3, General 
Requirements.  The following local amendment to Chapter 3 of the International Fire Code, 
entitled “General Requirements,” is hereby adopted and incorporated into the International Fire 
Code: 
 
A. Section 315 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection 

315.34.3 as follows: 

315.34.3 Idle Pallets. Idle pallets shall be stored in accordance with 
Sections 315.34.3.1 through 315.34.3.4. 
 

315.34.3.1 Buildings protected with automatic sprinklers.  The 
storage of idle pallets shall be in accordance with NFPA 13 Table 
A12.12.1.1. 
 
315.34.3.2 Buildings without sprinkler protection. The storage of 
idle pallets shall be in accordance with Table 315.34.3.2. 
 

 
Table 315.34.3.2 Clearances1 Between Storage and Buildings 

Wall Construction 
Type 

Openings 0-50 
Pallets 

51-200 
Pallets 

Over 
200 

Pallets 
Masonry None 5 5 10 

52 of 131



                                                                                                                             

4 

Masonry 
 1 hour 

protected 
openings 

5 10 20 

Masonry 
 3/4 hour 
protected 
openings 

10 20 30 

Masonry 
Non 

protected 
openings 

20 30 50 

Other   20 30 50 

1. All distances measured in feet. 
 

315.34.3.3 Separation from other storage.  The storage of idle 
pallets shall be in accordance with Table 315.34.3.3. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

1. All distances measured in feet. 
 
315.34.3.4 Stacks.  Pallet stacks shall be arranged to form stable 
piles. Pile shall be limited to an area not greater than 400 square feet. 
A distance half the pile height or not less than 8 ft. shall separate 
stacks.  

 
 
15.20.040050. Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 5, Fire Service 
Features.  The following local amendments to Chapter 5 of the International Fire Code, entitled 
“Fire Service Features,” are adopted and incorporated into the International Fire Code:  
 
A. Section 502.1 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following 
definition: 

LIFE SAFETY/RESCUE ACCESS. An unobstructed access to all 
floor levels and each roof level of a building on not less than twenty 
percent of the building perimeter by utilizing a thirty-five foot ladder. 
An alternate method would be at least one stairway enclosure with 
exit doorways from each floor level and with a door opening onto 
each roof level which conforms to the requirements of the 
International Building Code. 

 
BA. Section 503 of the International Fire Code is adopted.  

Table 315.34.3.3 Clearance to Other Storage 
Pile Size Minimum Distance1 

0-50  20 
51-200 30 

Over 200 50 

53 of 131



                                                                                                                             

5 

 
CB. Section 503.1 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection as 
follows:  

503.1.4 Conflicts. Where there is a conflict between a requirement of 
this section and a specific requirement of the Covington Design and 
Construction, the Covington Design and Construction Standards shall 
be applicable. 

 
DC. Section 503 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 503.2.1 
with the following: 

503.2.1 Dimensions. The following minimum dimensions shall apply 
for fire apparatus access roads: 
    1. Fire apparatus access roads shall have an unobstructed width of 
not less than 20 feet (6096 mm), except for approved security gates in 
accordance with section 503.6, and an unobstructed vertical clearance 
of not less than 13 feet 6 inches (4115 mm). 

      
    2. Fire apparatus access road routes shall be approved. At least 
one of the required fire apparatus access roads shall be located a 
minimum of 15 feet and a maximum of 25 feet from each building on 
the premises and shall be positioned parallel to one entire side of each 
building. The measurement for this requirement shall be taken from 
the exterior wall of the building to the nearest edge of the fire 
apparatus access road. 

 

ED. Section 503 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 503.2.3: 

503.2.3 Surface.  Facilities, buildings, or portions of buildings 
constructed shall be accessible to fire department apparatus by way of 
an approved fire apparatus access road with asphalt, concrete, or other 
approved all-weather driving surface capable of supporting the 
imposed load of fire apparatus weighing at least 30 tons (27,240 kg) 
in accordance with the Covington Design and Construction Standards. 

 
FE. Section 503 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 503.2.4 

with the following: 

503.2.4 Turning radius. The fire apparatus access road shall have a 
30 foot minimum inside turning radius and a 50 foot minimum outside 
turning radius. The radius must be measured from the travel lane 
edge, unless otherwise approved. 

 
GF. Section 503 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 503.2.5 
with the following: 

503.2.5 Dead ends. Dead-end fire apparatus access roads in excess of 
150 feet (45.72 m) in length shall be provided with an approved 

54 of 131



                                                                                                                             

6 

turnaround designed as illustrated in the Covington Design and 
Construction Standards. 

 
HG. Section 503.2.6 of the International Fire Code is amended to read as follows: 

503.2.6 Bridges and elevated surfaces. Where a bridge or an 
elevated surface is part of a fire apparatus access road, the bridge or 
elevated surface shall be constructed and maintained in accordance 
with specifications established by the fire code official and the public 
works director, or their designees; at a minimum, however, the bridge 
or elevated surface shall be constructed and maintained in accordance 
with AASHTO Standard Specifications for Highway Bridges. Bridges 
and elevated surfaces shall be designed for a live load sufficient to 
carry the imposed loads of 30 tons or more ton fire apparatus, the total 
imposed load to be determined by the fire code official. Vehicle load 
limits shall be posted at both entrances to bridges when required by 
the fire code official. Where elevated surfaces designed for 
emergency vehicle use are adjacent to surfaces which are not designed 
for such use, approved barriers, approved signs or both shall be 
installed and maintained when required by the fire code official. 

 
IH. Section 503.2.7 of the International Fire Code is amended to read as follows: 

 
503.2.7 Grade. Fire apparatus access roads shall not exceed 12 15 
percent longitudinally and/or 6 percent laterally in grade. Approach 
and departure angle for fire access shall be as determined by the fire 
code official.    

 
JI. Section 503 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following new 

subsection 503.2.9: 

503.2.9 Access road width with a hydrant.  Where a fire hydrant is 
located on a fire apparatus access road, the minimum road width shall 
be 26 feet for 20 feet on both sides of the operating nut and may be 
marked as a fire lane per Section 503.3. 

 

KJ. Section 503 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 503.3 

with the following: 

503.3 Marking.  Fire apparatus access roads shall be marked 
whenever necessary to maintain the unobstructed minimum required 
width of roadways. Subject to the fire code official’s prior written 
approval, marked fire apparatus access roads, or fire lanes, may be 
established or relocated at the time of plan review, pre-construction 
site inspection, and/or post construction site inspection as well as any 
time during the life of the occupancy. Only those fire apparatus 
access roads established by the fire code official can utilize red 

55 of 131



                                                                                                                             

7 

marking paint and the term fire lane.  Fire lanes shall be marked as 
directed by the fire code official with one or more of the following 
types of marking in accordance with the City of Covington Design 
and Construction Standards: 

 
503.3.1 Type 1. Type 1 marking shall be installed to identify 
fire lanes on commercial and multi-family developments or as 
directed by the fire code official.  
 
503.3.2 Type 2. Type 2 marking shall be installed to identify 
fire lanes in one- and two-family dwelling developments, 
turnarounds, or as directed by the fire code official.  

 
503.3.3. Type 3. Type 3 marking shall be installed to address 
situations where neither Type 1 or 2 marking are not effective 
or as directed by the fire code official. 

 
1.  Specific areas designated by the fire code official shall be marked 
with diagonal striping across the width of the fire lane. Diagonal 
marking shall be used in conjunction with painted curbs and/or edge 
striping and shall run at an angle of 30 to 60 degrees from one side to 
the other. These diagonal lines shall be in red traffic paint, parallel 
with each other, at least 6 inches in width, and 24 inches apart. 
Lettering shall occur as with Type 1 marking. 

 
LK. Section 503 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection 503.7 
to read as follows: 

503.7 Establishment of fire lanes. Fire lanes in conformance with 
this code shall be established by the Fire Marshal or his/her authorized 
designee, and shall be in accordance with 503.7.1 through 503.7.9. 

 
503.7.1 Obstruction of fire lanes prohibited. The obstruction 
of a designated fire lane by a parked vehicle or any other 
object is prohibited and shall constitute a traffic hazard as 
defined in State law and an immediate hazard to life and 
property. 
 
503.7.2 Existing fire lane signs and markings. The following 
signs and markings shall be provided: 

 
1. Signs (minimum nine-inch by 16-inch) may be allowed to 
remain until there is a need for replacement and at that time 
the sign shall meet the City of Covington Design and 
Construction Standards and Specifications. 

 

56 of 131



                                                                                                                             

8 

2. Markings may be allowed to remain until there is a need for 
repainting and at that time the provisions outlined in 503.3 
shall be complied with. 

 
503.7.3 Maintenance. Fire lane markings shall be maintained 
at the expense of the property owner(s) as often as needed to 
clearly identify the designated area as being a fire lane. 

 
503.7.4 Towing notification. At each entrance to property 
where fire lanes have been designated, signs shall be posted in 
a clearly conspicuous location and shall clearly state that 
vehicles parked in fire lanes may be impounded, and the name, 
telephone number, and address of the towing firm where the 
vehicle may be redeemed. 

 
503.7.5 Responsible property owner. The owner, manager, 
or person in charge of any property upon which designated fire 
lanes have been established shall prevent the parking of 
vehicles or placement of other obstructions in such fire lanes. 

 
503.7.6 Violation – Civil infraction. Any person who fails to 
mark or maintain the marking of a designated fire lane as 
prescribed in this chapter, or who parks a vehicle in, allows the 
parking of a vehicle in, obstructs, or allows the obstruction of 
a designated fire lane commits a civil infraction to which the 
provisions of Chapter 7.80 RCW shall apply. The penalty for 
failing to mark or maintain the marking of a designated fire 
lane shall be $150.00. The penalty for parking a vehicle in, 
allowing the parking of a vehicle in, obstructing, or allowing 
the obstruction of a designated fire lane shall be $50.00. 

 
503.7.7 Violation – Civil penalty. In addition to, or as an 
alternate to, the provisions of subsection 503.7.2, any person 
who fails to meet the provisions of the fire lane requirements 
codified in this title shall be subject to civil penalties.  
503.7.8 Impoundment. Any vehicle or object obstructing a 
designated fire lane is declared a traffic hazard and may be 
abated without prior notification to its owner by impoundment 
pursuant to the applicable State law.  

 
503.9 Enforcement. The Covington Building Official, the 
Covington Police or any other designated representative of the 
Fire Marshal shall have authority to enforce the provisions of 
this code within their respective jurisdictions.  

 

57 of 131



                                                                                                                             

9 

ML. Section 503 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following new 

subsection 503.8: 

503.8 Commercial and Industrial Developments. The fire 
apparatus access roads serving commercial and industrial 
developments shall be in accordance with Sections 503.8.1 through 
503.8.3. 

 
503.8.1 Buildings exceeding three stories or 30 feet in 
height. Buildings or facilities exceeding 30 feet or three 
stories in height shall have at least two means of fire apparatus 
access for each structure.  

 
503.8.2 Buildings exceeding 62,000 square feet in area. 
Buildings or facilities having a gross building area of more 
than 62,000 square feet shall be provided with two separate 
and approved fire apparatus access roads. 

 
Exception: Projects having a gross building area of up to 
124,000 square feet that have a single approved fire apparatus 
access road when all buildings area equipped throughout with 
approved automatic sprinkler systems.  

 
503.8.3 Remoteness. Where two access roads are required, they shall 
be placed a distance apart equal to not less than one half of the length 
of the maximum overall diagonal dimension of the property or area to 
be served, measured in a straight line between accesses.  
 

NM. Section 503 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following new 

subsection 503.9: 

503.9 Aerial fire apparatus roads. The fire apparatus access roads 
that accommodate aerial fire apparatus shall be in accordance with 
Sections 503.9.1 through 503.9.3. 

 
503.9.1 Where required. Buildings or portions of buildings or 
facilities exceeding 30 feet in height above the lowest level of 
fire department access shall be provided with approved fire 
apparatus access roads that are capable of accommodating 
fire department aerial apparatus. 

 
503.9.2 Width. Fire apparatus access roads shall have a 
minimum unobstructed width of 26 feet in the immediate 
vicinity of any building or portion of building more than 30 
feet in height. 

 

58 of 131



                                                                                                                             

10 

503.9.3 Proximity to building.  At least one of the required 
access routes meeting this condition shall be positioned 
parallel to one entire side of the building. The location of the 
parallel access route shall be approved.  

 

ON. Section 503 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following new 

subsection 503.10: 

503.10 Multi-family residential developments. The fire apparatus 
access roads serving multi-family residential developments hall be in 
accordance with Sections 503.10.1 through 503.10.2. 

 
503.10.1 Projects having more than 100 dwelling units. 
Multi-family residential projects having more than 100 
dwelling units shall be provided with two separate and 
approved fire apparatus access roads. 

 
Exception: Projects having up to 200 dwelling units may have 
a single approved fire apparatus access road when all 
buildings, including nonresidential occupancies, are equipped 
throughout with approved automatic sprinkler systems 
installed in accordance with Section 903.3.1.1 or 903.3.1.2. 

 
503.10.2 Projects having more than 200 dwelling units. 
Multi-family residential projects having more than 200 
dwelling units shall be provided with two separate and 
approved fire apparatus access roads regardless of whether 
they are equipped with an approved automatic sprinkler 
system.  

 

PO. Section 503 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following new 

subsection 503.11: 

503.11 One- and Two-family residential developments. The fire 
apparatus access roads serving one and two -family residential 
developments hall be in accordance with Sections 503.11.1. 

 
503.11.1 Projects having more than 30 dwelling units. 
Developments of one- or two-family dwellings where the 
number of dwelling units exceed 30 shall be provided with 
separate and approved fire apparatus access roads and shall 
meet the requirements of Section 503.8.3. 

 
Exceptions:  

 

59 of 131



                                                                                                                             

11 

1. Where there are more than 30 dwelling units on a single 
public or private fire apparatus access road and all 
dwelling units are equipped throughout with approved 
automatic sprinkler systems installed in accordance with 
Section 903.3.1.1, 903.3.1.2, or 903.3.1.3 of the 
International Fire Code, access from two directions shall 
not be required. 

2. The number of dwelling units on a single fire apparatus 
access road shall not be increased unless fire apparatus 
access roads will, within a reasonable time, connect with 
future development, as determined by the fire code official. 

 
QP.  Section 503 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following new 

subsection 503.12: 

503.12 Underground structures. Installation of underground 
structures under or within 10 feet of fire apparatus access roads shall 
be designed using approved criteria. The criteria shall accommodate 
for the loading of fire department aerial apparatus unless otherwise 
approved.  

 
R. Section 504.1 of the International Fire Code is amended to read as follows:  
504.1 Required access. The following points of access must be provided: 
 
1. Exterior doors and openings required by this code or the International Building Code shall be 
maintained readily accessible for emergency access by the fire department. 
 
2. An approved access walkway leading from fire apparatus access roads to exterior openings 
required by the Fire Marshal or his/her authorized designee or the International Building Code 
shall be provided. 
 
3. All occupancies shall be required to provide approved life/safety rescue access except for the 
following: 
 
 (a)  Group U occupancies 
 
 (b)  Roof access need not be provided to roof levels having slope greater than 4 in 12. 
 
Q. Section 507 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 507.5.2 

as follows: 

507.5.2. Inspection, testing and maintenance. Private fire hydrant 
systems shall be subject to annual testing. Fire hydrant systems shall 
be maintained in an operative condition at all times and shall be 
repaired where defective. Additions, repairs, alterations, and servicing 
shall comply with approved standards. 

60 of 131



                                                                                                                             

12 

R. Section 507 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 

507.5.3.1 as follows: 

507.5.3.1. Records. Records of all system inspections, tests and 
maintenance required by the referenced standard shall be maintained 
on the premises for three years; copies shall be delivered to the fire 
code official within 30 calendar days of each test, inspection, or 
maintenance of the system. 

 

S. Section 507 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 507.5.6 

as follows: 

507.5.6. Physical protection. Where fire hydrants are subject to 
impact by a motor vehicle, guard posts shall be designed and installed 
in accordance with the local water purveyor’s design and construction 
standards. 

 

T. Section 507 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 507.5.7 

as follows: 

507.5.7. Fire hydrant. Fire hydrants shall be designed and installed 
in accordance with the local water purveyor’s design and construction 
standards. 
 

SU. Section 507 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection 

507.5.8 as follows: 

507.5.8. Backflow prevention. All private fire systems shall be 
isolated by an approved method from the local water purveyor. 

 
TV. Section 507 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection 507.6 

as follows: 

507.6. Capacity for residential areas. All hydrants installed in single 
family residential areas shall be capable of delivering 1,500 gpm fire 
flow over and above average maximum demands at the farthest point 
of the installation.  

 
UW. Section 507 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection 507.7 

as follows: 

507.7. Spacing. The spacing of hydrants shall be in accordance with 
Sections 507.7.1  through 507.7.5. 

 

61 of 131



                                                                                                                             

13 

507.7.1. Single family. The maximum fire hydrant spacing 
serving single family residential areas shall be 600 feet.  

 
507.7.2. Commercial, industrial and multi-family. The 
maximum fire hydrant spacing serving commercial, industrial, 
multi-family or other areas shall be 300 feet. 

 
507.7.3. Medians. Where streets are provided with median 
dividers which cannot be crossed by firefighters pulling hose 
lines hydrants shall be provided on each side of the street and 
be arranged on an alternating basis.  

 
507.7.4. Arterials. Where arterial streets are provided with 
four or more traffic lanes hydrants shall be provided on each 
side of the street and be arranged on an alternating basis. 

 
507.7.5. Transportation. Where new water mains are 
extended along streets where hydrants are not needed for 
protection of structures or similar fire problems, fire hydrants 
shall be provided at a spacing not to exceed 1,000 feet to 
provide for transportation hazards.  

 

VX. Section 507 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection 507.8 

as follows: 

507.8. Required hydrants. The number of hydrants required for a 
property shall be based on the calculated fire flow. The first hydrant 
will be calculated for up to 1,500 gpm. An additional hydrant is 
required for every 1,000 gpm, or fraction thereof. The required 
hydrants shall be within 600 feet of the property on a fire apparatus 
road, as measured by an approved method. 

 
Y. Section 507 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection 507.9 

as follows: 

507.9. Notification. The owner of property on which private hydrants 
are located and the public agencies that own or control public 
hydrants must provide the fire code official with the following written 
service notifications in accordance with 507.9.1 and 507.9.2. 

 
507.9.1. In-service notification. The fire code official shall be 
notified when any newly installed hydrant is placed into 
service.  

 
507.9.2. Out-of-service notifications. Where any hydrant is 
out of service or has not yet been placed in service, the hydrant 

62 of 131



                                                                                                                             

14 

shall be identified as being out of service and shall be 
appropriately marked as out of service, by a method approved 
by the fire code official. 

 
15.20.050060. Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 6, Building Services 
and Systems.  The following local amendments to Chapter 6 of the International Fire Code, 
entitled “Building Services and Systems,” are hereby adopted and incorporated into the 
International Fire Code as if fully set forth therein. 
 

A. Section 609 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 606.6 

with the following: 

606.6. Testing of equipment. Refrigeration equipment and systems 
having a refrigerant circuit more than 220 pounds of Group A1 or 30 
pounds of any other group refrigerant shall be subject to periodic 
testing in accordance with Section 606.6.1. A written record of the 
required testing shall be maintained on the premises for a minimum of 
three years; a copy shall be submitted to the fire code official within 
30 calendar days of the testing; and a label or tag shall be affixed to 
the individual system identifying the date of the testing. Tests of 
emergency devices or systems required by this chapter shall be 
conducted by persons trained and qualified in refrigeration systems. 

 

AB. Section 609 of the International Fire Code is amended by supplementing subsection 609.2 

with the following two subsections: 

609.2.12. Permit Required. Permits shall be required as set forth in 
Section 105.6. 

 
609.2.23. Approved drawing. The stamped and approved cook line 
drawing shall be displayed adjacent to the suppression system pull 
station prior to the final inspection. 

 
C. Section 609 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 609.3.3 

with the following: 

606.3.3. Records. Records for inspections shall state the individual and 
company performing the inspection, a description of the inspection and 
when the inspection took place. Records for cleanings shall state the 
individual and company performing the cleaning and when the cleaning 
took place. Such records shall be completed after each inspection or 
cleaning, maintained on the premises for a minimum of three years; a 
copy shall be sent to the fire code official within 30 days of the inspection 
or cleaning; and a label or tag shall be affixed to the individual system 
identifying the date of the inspection and/or cleaning. 

63 of 131



                                                                                                                             

15 

 
 
 
15.20.060070. Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 7, Fire-Resistance-
Rated Construction.  The following local amendments to Chapter 7 of the International Fire 
Code, entitled “Fire-Resistance-Rated Construction,” are hereby adopted and incorporated into 
the International Fire Code as if fully set forth therein. 
 

A. Section 703 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting 703.4 with the 

following: 

703.4. Testing. Horizontal, vertical sliding and rolling fire doors shall 
be inspected and tested annually to confirm proper operation and full 
closure. A written record shall be maintained on the premises for a 
minimum of three years; and a copy shall be copied sent to the fire 
code official within 30 calendar days of the inspection or test; and a 
label or tag shall be affixed to the individual assembly identifying the 
date of scheduled confidence test. 

 
 
15.20.070080. Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 9, Fire Protection 
Systems.  The following local amendments to Chapter 9 of the International Fire Code, entitled 
“Fire Protection Systems,” are hereby adopted and incorporated into the International Fire Code 
as if fully set forth therein. 
 
A. Section 901 is amended by substituting 901.6.2 with the following: 

901.6.2. Records. Records of all system inspections, tests and 
maintenance required by the referenced standards shall be maintained 
on the premises for three years;  anda copy shall be copied sent to the 
fire code official within 30 calendar days of each test, inspection, or 
maintenance of the system; and a label or tag shall be affixed to the 
individual system identifying the date of the scheduled confidence 
test. 

  
B. Section 902.1 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following 
definitionto the list in subsection 902.1:  

PROBLEMATIC FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEM. A fire 
protection system which generates repeated preventable malfunctions. 

 
C. Section 903.2, of the International Fire Code is amended to read as follows: 

903.2 Where required. An automatic sprinkler system shall be 
provided for when one of the following conditions exist: 
 
1.  In all buildings without adequate fire flow as required by this code. 
 

64 of 131



                                                                                                                             

16 

Exception:  Miscellaneous Group U Occupancies. 
 

2.  All new buildings and structures regulated by the International 
Building Code requiring 2,000 gallons per minute or more fire flow, 
or with a gross floor area of 10,000 or more square feet (929 m2), or 
where this code provides a more restrictive floor/fire area 
requirement, and shall be provided in all locations or where described 
by this code.   
 
Exception:  Spaces or areas in telecommunications buildings used 
exclusively for telecommunications equipment, associated electrical 
power distribution equipment, batteries, and standby engines, 
provided those spaces or areas are equipped throughout with an 
automatic smoke detection system in accordance with Section 907.2 
and are separated from the remainder of the building by not less than 
1 hour fire barriers constructed in accordance with Section 707 of the 
International Building Code or not less than 2 hour horizontal 
assemblies constructed in accordance with Section 712 of the 
International Building Code, or both. 
 
3.  Where this code requires the installation of an automatic sprinkler 
system to protect an occupancy within an otherwise non-sprinklered 
building, then automatic sprinkler protection will be required 
throughout the entire building. 

 
4.  When the required fire apparatus access roadway grade is 12 
percent or greater. 
 
5.  Without approved fire department access as defined in the 
Covington Design and Construction Standards. 

 
D. Section 903 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding the following new 

subsection 903.2.9.3: 

903.2.9.3 Speculative use warehouses. Where the occupant, tenant, 
or use of the building or storage commodity has not been determined 
or it is otherwise a speculative use warehouse or building, the 
automatic sprinkler system shall be designed to protect not less than 
Class IV non-encapsulated commodities on wood pallets, with no 
solid, slatted, or wire mesh shelving, and with aisles that are 8 feet or 
more in width and up to 20 feet in height. 

 

E. Section 903 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection 

903.3.8 as follows: 

65 of 131



                                                                                                                             

17 

903.3.8. Check valve. All automatic sprinkler system risers shall be 
equipped with a check valve. 

 
Exception: NFPA 13 D sprinkler systems. 

 
F. Section 903 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 903.6 

with the following: 

903.6. Existing Buildings. An approved automatic sprinkler system 
shall be installed in existing buildings and structures where required 
in Section 4603. 

 
GF. Section 903 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection 903.7 
as follows: 

903.7 Riser Room Access. All risers shall be located in a 
dedicated room with an exterior door, interior lighting and heat. 

 
HG. Section 907.1.23, of the International Fire Code is amended with the following: 

907.1.2 3 Equipment. Systems and their components shall be 
listed and approved for the purpose for which they are installed. 
All new alarm systems shall be addressable. Each device shall 
have its own address and shall annunciate individual addresses at a 
UL Central Station. 

 
I. Section 907.2 of the International Fire Code is amended to read as follows:  

907.2 Where required – New buildings and structures. An 
approved manual, automatic or manual and automatic fire alarm 
system installed in accordance with the provisions of this code and 
NFPA 72 shall be provided in new buildings and structures 3,000 
square feet or greater or in accordance with Sections 907.2.1 
through 907.2.23 and provide occupant notification in accordance 
with Section 907.10, unless other requirements are provided by 
another section of this code.  
 
Exception: Group U buildings and structures. 
 
A minimum of one manual fire alarm box shall be provided in and 
approved location to initiate a fire alarm signal for fire alarm 
systems employing automatic fire detectors or water-flow 
detection devices. Where other sections of this code allow 
elimination of fire alarm boxes due to sprinklers, a single fire 
alarm box shall be installed. 
 
Exceptions: 

 

66 of 131



                                                                                                                             

18 

3. The manual fire alarm box is not required for fire alarm 
systems dedicated to elevator recall control and 
supervisory service. 

 
4. The manual fire alarm box is not required for Group R-

2 occupancies unless required by the fire code official 
to provide a means for fire watch personnel to initiate 
an alarm during a sprinkler impairment event. Where 
provided, the manual fire alarm box shall not be located 
in an area that is accessible to the public. 

 
J. Section 907 is amended by repealing Exception 1 of subsection 907.4.1. The amended 

subsection 907.4.1 reads as follows: 

907.4.1. Duct smoke detectors. Duct smoke detectors shall be 
connected to the building’s fire alarm control panel when a fire alarm 
system is provided. Activation of a duct smoke detector shall initiate a 
visible and audible trouble signal at a constantly attended location. 
Duct smoke detectors shall not be used as a substitute for required 
open area detection. 

 
Exception: In occupancies not required to be equipped with a fire 
alarm system, actuation of a duct smoke detector shall activate a 
visible and an audible signal in an approved location. Smoke detector 
trouble conditions shall activate a visible or audible signal in an 
approved location and shall be identified as air duct detector trouble. 

 
KH. Section 907 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection 907.10 

as follows: 

907.10. Latched alarms. All signals shall be automatically “latched” 
at the alarm panel until their operated devices are returned to normal 
condition, and the alarm panel is manually reset.  

 
LI. Section 907 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection 
907.21 as follows: 

907.21 Resetting. All fire alarm panels shall be reset only by an 
approved person. 

 

907.21.1. Reset Code. The reset code for the fire alarm 
panel or keypad shall be 3-7-1-2-3-4. The reset code shall 
not be changed without approval of the Fire Marshalfire 
code official. 

 
MJ. Section 907 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new subsection 
907.22 as follows: 

67 of 131



                                                                                                                             

19 

907.22 Fire Alarm Control Panel. All fire alarm control panels 
shall be located in the riser room designed and installed in 
accordance with Section 903.7 or an approved location. 

 
NK. Section 909 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting 909.20.2 with the 

following: 

909.20.2 Written record. The records shall include the date of the 
maintenance, identification of the servicing personnel and 
notification of any unsatisfactory condition and the corrective 
action taken, including parts replacement. The written record of 
smoke control system testing and maintenance shall be maintained 
on the premises for three years; and be copiedcopied a copy shall 
be sent to the fire code official within 30 days of each test or 
maintenance of the system; and a label or tag shall be affixed to the 
individual system identifying the date of the scheduled testing. 

 
OL. Section 912 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting 912.4 with the 
following:  

912.4 Signs. Fire department connections shall be clearly 
identified in an approved manner.  
 to prevent obstruction by parking and other obstructions.  
 
All fire department connections shall have an approved sign 
attached below the Siamese clapper. The sign shall specify the type 
of water-based fire protection system, the structure, and the 
building areas served. 
 

15.20.090. Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 11, Fire Safety 
Requirements for Existing Buildings.  The following local amendments to Chapter 11 of the 
International Fire Code, entitled “Fire Safety Requirements for Existing Buildings,” are hereby 
adopted and incorporated into the International Fire Code as if fully set forth therein. 

 
A. Section 1103.5 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new 
subsection 1103.5.3 as follows: 

 
1103.5.3 Substantial Alterations. The provisions of this chapter 
shall apply to substantial alterations to existing buildings 
regardless of use when a substantial alteration occurs in a structure 
equaling 10,000 or greater square feet. For the purpose of this 
section, a substantial alteration shall be defined as an alteration that 
costs 50 percent or more of the current assessed value of the 
structure and impacts more than 50% of the gross floor area. 

 
B. Section 1103.7 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new 
subsection 1103.7.8 as follows: 

68 of 131



                                                                                                                             

20 

 
1103.7.8 Fire alarm control unit. If an existing fire alarm control 
unit is replaced with identical equipment it shall be considered 
maintenance. 

 
15.20.080100. Amendments to the International Fire Code – Chapter 4780, Reference 
Standards.  The following local amendments to Chapter 47 80 of the International Fire Code, 
entitled “Reference Standards,” are hereby adopted and incorporated into the International Fire 
Code as if fully set forth therein. 

 

A. Section NFPA of the International Fire Code is amended by modifying the 
Standard reference number dates of publication as follows: 

 

13-1013 Installation of Sprinkler Systems 
13D-1013 Installation of Sprinkler Systems in One- and Two-family 

Dwellings and Manufactured Homes   
13R-1013 Installation of Sprinkler Systems in Residential Occupancies 

up to and Including Four Stories in Height 
20-1013 Installation of Stationary Pumps for Fire Protection 
24-1013 Installation of Private Fire Service Mains and Their 

Appurtenances 
72-13 National Fire Alarm and Signaling Code 
110-1013 Emergency and Standby Power Systems 
111-1013 Stored Electrical Energy Emergency and Standby Power 

Systems 
720-12 Installation of Carbon Monoxide (CO) Detection and Warning 

Equipment 
 
 
15.20.090110. Amendments to the International Fire Code – Appendix B, Fire-Flow 
Requirements for Buildings.  The following local amendments to Appendix B to the 
International Fire Code, entitled “Fire-Flow Requirements for Buildings,” are hereby adopted 
and incorporated into the International Fire Code as if fully set forth therein. 
 
A. Section B105 of the International Fire Code is amended by adding a new 
subsection B105.1.1: 

 
B105.1.1. Accessory Group U buildings. Section B105.2 will not 
apply to accessory group U buildings if all of the following conditions 
apply: 
 
    1. The residence and accessory group U building aggregate gross 
floor area does not exceed 3,600 square feet. 
 
    2. The residence meets the fire flow requirements of section 
B105.1. 

69 of 131



                                                                                                                             

21 

 
    3. The residence and accessory group U building meet the 
requirements of sections 503.1.1 and 508.1.1. 
 
    4. The location of the accessory group U building is at least 10' 
from any building and at least 5' from the property line. 
 

A. Section B103 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting subsection 

B103.1: 

B103.1 Increases.  The fire chief is authorized to increase the fire 
flow requirements where exposures could be impacted by fire. An 
increase shall not be more than twice that required for the building 
under consideration. 

 
B. Section B105 of the International Fire Code is amended by substituting section B105.1 

with the following: 

B105.1 One- and two-family dwellings.  Fire-flow requirements for 
one- and two-family dwellings shall be in accordance with Sections 
B105.1.1 through B105.1.3. 

 
B105.1.1 Buildings less than 3,600 square feet.  The 
minimum fire-flow and flow duration requirements shall be 
1,000 gallons per minute for 1 hour. 

 
Exception: A reduction in required fire-flow of 50 percent, as 
approved, is allowed when the building is equipped with an 
approved automatic sprinkler system. 

 
B105.1.2 Buildings greater than 3,600 square feet.  The 
minimum fire-flow and flow duration requirements for shall 
not be less than that specified in Table B105.1. 

 
Exception: A reduction of fire-flow and flow duration to 
1,000 gallons per minute for 1 hour, as approved, is allowed 
when the building is equipped with the following; 

 
1. An approved automatic sprinkler system 

 
2. 1-hour fire resistant rated exterior walls tested in 

accordance with ASTM E 119 or UL 263 with exposure on 
the exterior side and projections with 1-hour underside 
protection, fire blocking installed from the wall top plate to 
the underside of the roof sheathing and no gable vent 
openings.   

70 of 131



                                                                                                                             

22 

 
Exception: Walls with a distance greater than 11’ to the 
nearest exposure or face an unbuildable lot, tract or buffer. 
The distance shall be measured at right angles from the 
face of the wall. 

 
B105.2 Buildings other than one- and two-family dwellings.  The 
minimum fire-flow and flow duration for buildings other than one- 
and two-family dwellings shall be as specified in Table B105.1. 

 
Exception: A reduction in required fire-flow of 50 percent, as 
approved, is allowed when the building is provided with an 
approved automatic sprinkler system. The resulting fire-flow 
shall not be less than 1,500 gallons per minute for the 
prescribed duration as specified in Table B105.1. 

 
B105.2.1 Tents and Membrane structures.  No fire flow is required 
for tents and membrane structures. 

 
B105.2.2 Accessory residential Group U buildings.  Accessory 
residential Group U buildings shall comply with the requirements of 
B105.1. 

  
 

71 of 131



Agenda Item 2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  May 14, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:  PRESENT DRAFT SIX-YEAR (2014 – 2019) TRANSPORTATION 

IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (TIP) 
 

RECOMMENDED BY:  Glenn Akramoff, Public Works Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 
1. 2014-2019 TIP Summary Spreadsheet 
2. 2014-2019 TIP Map 
3. 2014-2019 TIP Project Descriptions 
 
PREPARED BY:  Don Vondran, Senior City Engineer 
 
EXPLANATION:   
The city is required by RCW 35.77.010 to annually prepare and adopt a comprehensive 
transportation program for the ensuing six calendar years and to forward a copy of that Six-Year 
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) to the Washington State Secretary of Transportation 
by July 31st.  The TIP represents the first six years of the 20-year transportation (street) capital 
improvement program.  The projects contained in the proposed City of Covington Six-Year TIP 
2014 – 2019 are consistent with the transportation projects identified in the Capital Facilities 
Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan adopted December 16, 2003.  
 
On March 12, 2013, there was a study session regarding the CIP program.  Within that study 
session, David Evans and Associates presented results from several scenarios where 
transportation projects were modeled to show the impacts/benefits of an individual project.  The 
following conclusions were made at their presentation: 
 
1. Widening of SR 516 between Jenkins Creek and 216th would completely eliminate 

deficiencies on SR 516 east of Wax Road.   
2. The Town Center scenario did not have a significant adverse impact on the deficient links on 

SR 516 nor did it have a significant impact on the rest of the transportation infrastructure.  
3. The 204th bypass would improve some of the deficiencies on SR 516 but it also showed 

additional congestion on SR 516 east of 204th.  In addition, this scenario improved 
congestion on Covington-Sawyer Road.    

4. Adding an EB right-turn pocket or a 2nd NB left-turn pocket would improve the level of 
service at SR 516/Covington Way.   

 
This information was helpful in evaluating the benefits of each individual project and helps 
determine how projects should be prioritized. 
 
The draft 2014-2019 TIP looks significantly different from last year but that is primarily due to 
funding that we received or opportunities for funding of projects that need to be reflected in our 
TIP.    

72 of 131



The following projects were added to the proposed 2014 – 2019 TIP (See attachment 3 for more 
project details): 
 
1. CIP 1028 – 240th/196th/Wax Road Overlay – This project was added due to a Transportation 

Improvement Board (TIB) grant that we received in the amount of $402,340.  This project is 
scheduled to be completed this summer as part of the King County Overlay Program.   

2. CIP 1029 – Citywide Intersection Safety Project – This project was added due to a WSDOT 
grant that we received in the amount of $250,000.  This project is scheduled to be designed 
this year and construction completed next year.   

3. CIP 1014 – Jenkins Creek Park – Multiuse Trail – This project was submitted as part of a 
grant request through WSDOT.  This project has potential to get funding and could go to 
design in 2014.   

 
We did not add any additional projects or make any other changes to the TIP from last year.  
There are a couple of projects that need to be discussed if they should be added to this year 
or wait and evaluate again next year.  First, the 204th Avenue SE connector to SE 256th Street 
is currently being evaluated as part of the Hawk Property Subarea Plan and EIS project.  Staff 
determined that this project should go through the subarea plan and EIS process first and then the 
information from that process can be used to better evaluate and prioritize the benefits and costs 
associated to that project.   The project could be added to next year’s TIP process.  The other 
project discussed was the Town Center infrastructure project.  This project is currently on the 
city’s legislative agenda seeking funds for an economic impact and infrastructure cost study.  
The project could be added to the TIP this year that just reflects a planning phase and once the 
planning phase is completed the information can be used to program the rest of the phases for the 
project. 
  
Staff wanted to bring a draft 2014 – 2019 TIP and present it to Council in order to discuss the 
direction that we should be pursuing.  In addition, we wanted to answer any questions that 
Council may have in regards to the presentation that was done by David Evans and Associates.  
All of this information is beneficial in evaluating and prioritizing projects in the TIP because we 
need to balance the needs from a capacity, safety and economic perspective. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
Direct Staff to modify the draft 2014 – 2019 Six-Year TIP. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
The fiscal impact of each proposed project is indicated in the draft Six-Year TIP 2014 – 2019.  
The specific revenue source(s) for the city portion of the funds for each project is determined 
each year during the budget process.  Additional revenues are needed to fund these projects.  
Possible sources are grants, appropriations and traffic impact fees. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution            Motion      X   Other 
 

Provide input to staff. 
 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, City Attorney, Finance Director 

73 of 131



A
D

O
P

T
E

D
 _

__
__

__
__

__
_ 

 b
y 

R
E

S
O

LU
T

IO
N

 _
__

__
   

1
2

3
4

5
6

T
ot

al
20

14
20

15
20

16
20

17
20

18
20

19
P

rio
rit

y
C

ity
 C

IP
 #

, P
ro

je
ct

 N
am

e,
  T

er
m

in
i, 

 M
aj

or
 C

la
ss

 o
f W

or
k

P
ha

se
F

un
de

d
F

un
ds

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

1
11

27
,

D
gn

X
X

0
 

 
 

 
 

 
S

E
 2

72
nd

 S
tr

ee
t (

S
R

 5
16

) 
R

-o
-W

X
X

1,
19

4
1,

19
4

 
 

 
 

 
Je

nk
in

s 
C

re
ek

 to
 1

85
th

 P
la

ce
 S

E
 

C
on

st
11

,7
85

 
11

,7
85

 
 

 
 

W
id

en
 to

 5
 la

ne
s 

&
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
, S

id
ew

al
ks

, N
ew

 s
tr

ea
m

 c
ro

ss
in

g 
T

ot
al

 C
os

t
12

,9
79

1,
19

4
11

,7
85

0
0

0
0

2
10

28
,

D
gn

X
X

70
S

E
 2

40
th

 S
tr

ee
t, 

19
6t

h 
A

ve
 S

E
  a

nd
 S

E
 W

ax
 R

oa
d

R
-o

-W
N

/A

S
E

 2
40

th
 (

18
0t

h 
- 

19
6t

h)
, 1

96
th

 (
24

0t
h 

- 
W

ax
) 

&
 S

E
 W

ax
 (

19
3r

d 
- 

19
6t

h)
 

C
on

st
X

X
40

3
O

ve
rla

y 
ex

is
tin

g 
ro

ad
w

ay
s

T
ot

al
 C

os
t

47
3

3
10

29
,

D
gn

X
X

31
C

ity
w

id
e 

In
te

rs
ec

tio
n 

S
af

et
y 

P
ro

je
ct

R
-o

-W
N

/A

10
 in

te
rs

ec
tio

ns
 th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

ci
ty

 (
se

e 
de

sc
rip

tio
n 

fo
r 

de
ta

ils
)

C
on

st
X

X
21

9
21

9
V

ar
io

us
 s

ig
ni

ng
, s

tr
ip

in
g 

an
d 

ch
an

ne
liz

at
io

n 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 

T
ot

al
 C

os
t

25
0

21
9

4
10

57
,

D
gn

X
X

40
40

 
 

 
 

 
15

6t
h 

A
ve

nu
e 

S
E

R
-o

-W
0

0
 

 
 

 
 

V
ic

in
ity

 S
E

 2
72

nd
 S

tr
ee

t t
o 

V
ic

in
ity

 S
E

 2
61

st
 P

la
ce

C
on

st
X

X
34

0
34

0
 

 
 

 
 

P
av

em
en

t R
eh

ab
ili

ta
tio

n
T

ot
al

 C
os

t
38

0
38

0
0

0
0

0
0

5
10

14
,

D
gn

78
78

Je
nk

in
s 

C
re

ek
 P

ar
k

R
-o

-W
10

10
S

E
 2

67
th

 P
la

ce
 to

 S
E

 2
68

th
 S

tr
ee

t
C

on
st

46
6

46
6

N
on

 M
ot

or
iz

ed
 M

ul
ti-

us
e 

tr
ai

l a
nd

 b
rid

ge
 r

ep
la

ce
m

en
t

T
ot

al
 C

os
t

55
4

88
46

6
6

11
28

,
D

gn
1,

30
4

 
1,

30
4

 
 

 
 

S
E

 2
72

nd
 S

tr
ee

t (
S

R
 5

16
)

R
-o

-W
74

7
 

 
74

7
 

 
 

18
5t

h 
P

la
ce

 S
E

 to
 1

92
nd

 A
ve

nu
e 

S
E

C
on

st
13

,8
70

 
 

 
13

,8
70

 
 

W
id

en
 to

 5
 la

ne
s 

&
 r

ec
on

st
ru

ct
, S

id
ew

al
ks

, N
ew

 s
ig

na
l.

T
ot

al
 C

os
t

15
,9

21
0

1,
30

4
74

7
13

,8
70

0
0

7
11

24
,

D
gn

1,
03

5
 

 
 

1,
03

5
 

 
18

5t
h 

P
la

ce
 S

E
 E

xt
en

si
on

R
-o

-W
4,

88
6

 
 

 
 

4,
88

6
 

W
ax

 R
oa

d/
18

0t
h 

A
ve

nu
e 

S
E

 R
ou

nd
ab

ou
t t

o 
S

E
 2

72
nd

 S
tr

ee
t

C
on

st
10

,9
50

 
 

 
 

 
10

,9
50

N
ew

 R
ou

te
, N

ew
 A

lig
nm

en
t, 

A
cc

es
s 

m
an

ag
em

en
t.

T
ot

al
 C

os
t

16
,8

71
0

0
0

1,
03

5
4,

88
6

10
,9

50
8

10
63

,
D

gn
97

9
 

 
 

97
9

 
 

S
E

 2
72

nd
 S

tr
ee

t (
S

ta
te

 R
ou

te
 5

16
)

R
-o

-W
1,

39
8

 
 

 
 

1,
39

8
 

16
0t

h 
A

ve
nu

e 
S

E
 to

 1
64

th
 A

ve
nu

e 
S

E
C

on
st

10
,3

40
 

 
 

 
 

10
,3

40
S

ig
na

l m
od

ifi
ca

tio
ns

, a
dd

 tu
rn

 la
ne

s,
 s

tr
ea

m
 c

ro
ss

in
g.

T
ot

al
 C

os
t

12
,7

17
0

0
0

97
9

1,
39

8
10

,3
40

9
P

or
tio

ns
 o

f 1
05

6 
an

d 
11

49
D

gn
47

0
 

 
 

47
0

 
 

S
E

 2
56

th
 S

tr
ee

t a
nd

 1
80

th
 A

ve
nu

e 
S

E
R

-o
-W

22
8

 
 

 
 

22
8

 
S

af
et

y 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
,S

id
ew

al
ks

 
C

on
st

5,
01

1
 

 
 

 
 

5,
01

1
S

ig
na

l m
od

ifi
ca

tio
ns

, a
dd

 r
ig

ht
 tu

rn
 la

ne
.

T
ot

al
 C

os
t

5,
70

9
0

0
0

47
0

22
8

5,
01

1

3.
0%

A
nn

ua
l C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

C
os

t I
nc

re
as

e
T

O
T

A
L

65
,8

54
1,

88
1

13
,5

55
74

7
16

,3
54

6,
51

2
26

,3
01

E
xp

en
di

tu
re

 S
ch

ed
ul

e 
in

 T
ho

us
an

ds

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 C

O
V

IN
G

T
O

N
20

1 4
 t

o
 2

01
9 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

at
io

n
 Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
 

S
u

m
m

ar
y

ATTACHMENT 1

74 of 131



SR
 18

SE
 27

2N
D 

ST

SE
 25

6T
H 

ST

RA
MP

180TH AVE SE

164TH AVE SE

SE WAX RD

SE
 24

0T
H 

ST

156TH AVE SE

SE
 26

1S
T S

T

204TH AVE SE

SE
 25

1S
T S

T

168TH PL SE

156TH PL SE

COVINGTON WAY SE

170TH PL SE

160TH AVE SE

173RD AVE SE

SE
 27

9T
H P

L

SE
 26

7T
H 

PL

SE
 26

7T
H ST

197TH PL SE

172ND AVE SE
SE

 26
2N

D 
PL

199TH PL SE

TIMBERLANE WAY SE191ST PL SE

194TH AVE SE

200TH AVE SE

SE
 27

0T
H 

PL

SE
 24

4T
H 

ST

161ST PL SE

193RD PL SE

SE
 27

1S
T S

T

SE
 26

5T
H ST

SE
 26

6T
H 

PL

SE
 24

4T
H 

PL

SE
 27

7T
H 

PL

FR
ONTA

GE R
D

210TH AVE SE

172ND PL SE
SE

 26
2N

D 
ST

170TH AVE SE

152ND AVE SE

SE
 24

6T
H 

ST

169TH PL SE

196TH AVE SE

177TH PL SE

166TH PL SE

SE
 25

9T
H S

T

SE
 25

4T
H 

PL

SE
 26

0T
H S

T

SE 26
8TH ST

185TH PL SE

186TH PL SE

151ST PL SE

SE
 26

9T
H 

ST

TIMBERLANE DR SE

184TH AVE SE

167TH PL SE

161ST AVE SE

183RD AVE SE

175TH WAY SE

SE
 27

0T
H 

ST

SE
 24

7T
H 

ST

199TH AVE SE

SE
 25

7T
H 

ST

179TH PL SE

201ST AVE SE

176TH AVE SE

SE
 26

4T
H 

ST

170TH WAY SE

176TH PL SE SE
 26

0T
H 

PL

175TH AVE SE

166TH AVE SE

159TH AVE SE

153RD AVE SE

SE
 25

9T
H 

PL

183RD PL SE

171ST PL SE

195TH PL SE

192ND PL SE

163RD AVE SE

SE
 24

9T
H 

PL

171ST AVE SE

SE
 25

3R
D 

PL

188TH AVE SE

SE
 26

6T
H 

ST

187TH AVE SE

SE 263RD PL

192ND AVE SE

203RD AVE SE

SE
 26

8T
H 

PL

167TH AVE SE

195TH CT SE

178TH PL SE

SE
 27

1S
T P

L

211TH AVE SE

165TH PL SE

SE
 25

6T
H 

PL

189TH AVE SE

SE 25
8TH ST

175
TH PL S

E

159TH PL SE

181ST PL SE

186TH AVE SE

208TH AVE SE

185TH AVE SE

162ND AVE SE

184TH PL SE

197TH AVE SE

185
TH LOOP SE

174TH PL SE

SE
 26

3R
D 

ST

168TH AVE SE

212TH AVE SE

196TH PL SE

SE
 25

4T
H 

ST

SE
 24

5T
H 

PL

SE
 24

6T
H 

PL

SE
 24

7T
H 

PL

SE
 TI

MBER
LA

NE BLV
D

SE
 24

1S
T P

L

SE
 26

1S
T C

T

202ND AVE SE

SE
 26

1S
T P

L

193RD AVE SE

190TH PL SE

SE
 25

2N
D 

PL

206TH AVE SE

155TH AVE SE

SE
 26

9T
H 

PL

169TH AVE SE

SE
 26

4T
H 

PL

SE
 26

3R
D 

CT

SE
 28

0T
H 

PL

SE
 27

5T
H 

ST

SE
 26

5T
H 

PL

SE
 25

5T
H 

PLSE
 25

1S
T P

L

183RD CT SE

201ST PL SE

SE
 27

1S
T C

T

SE 258TH PL

186TH CT SE

198TH AVE SE

209TH AVE SE

162ND PL SE

SE
 24

1S
T S

T

174TH AVE SE

163RD PL SE

158TH AVE SE

SE
 26

8T
H 

CT

SE
 25

5T
H 

ST

SE
 25

9T
H 

CT

193RD CT SE

187TH CT SE

198TH CT SE

SE
 26

7T
H 

PL

171ST PL SE

SE
 26

2N
D 

PL

SE
 26

4T
H 

ST

SE
 25

5T
H 

ST

SE
 26

2N
D 

ST

SE
 26

3R
D 

PL

SE
 26

9T
H 

ST

SE
 25

1S
T S

T

SE
 W

AX R
D

SE
 26

8T
H 

ST

SE
 25

1S
T P

L

SE
 26

6T
H 

ST

SR
 18

SE
 26

8T
H 

ST

SE
 26

6T
H 

ST

161ST PL SE

160TH AVE SE

SE
 26

4T
H 

PL

163RD AVE SE

SE
 26

9T
H 

ST

191ST PL SE

SE
 26

0T
H 

ST

SE
 26

3R
D 

ST

168TH PL SE

SE
 25

8T
H 

ST

200TH AVE SE

166TH AVE SE

185TH AVE SE

SE
 26

9T
H 

ST

SE
 26

5T
H S

T

SE
 25

5T
H 

PL

SE
 26

2N
D 

PL

SE
 25

7T
H 

ST

SE
 26

0T
H 

ST
SE

 26
0T

H 
ST

SE
 25

9T
H 

PL

184TH AVE SE

SE
 26

0T
H 

ST

SE
 25

9T
H 

ST

195TH PL SE

SE
 26

4T
H 

ST

192ND AVE SE

SE
 26

1S
T S

T

180TH AVE SE

170TH PL SE

SE
 25

9T
H 

ST

166TH PL SE

SE
 26

0T
H 

ST

SE
 26

8T
H 

ST

SE
 26

0T
H 

PL

16
8T

H A
VE

 SE

SE
 26

4T
H 

ST

SE
 26

6T
H 

ST

188TH AVE SE
189TH AVE SE

188TH AVE SE

SE
 26

2N
D 

PL

SE
 26

3R
D 

ST

168TH PL SE

193RD PL SE

203RD AVE SE

176TH PL SE

SE
 26

7T
H 

PL

SE 256TH ST SE
 25

8T
H S

T

SE
 26

8T
H 

ST

SE
 26

2N
D 

ST

SE
 26

0T
H 

PL

SE
 26

4T
H ST

SE
 26

9T
H 

PL

200TH AVE SE

SE
 26

8T
H 

ST

167TH PL SE

RA
MP

176TH AVE SE

SE
 27

0T
H 

ST

SE
 26

0T
H 

ST

211TH AVE SE

196TH AVE SE

209TH AVE SE

175TH AVE SE

SE
 26

7T
H 

ST

SE
 26

3R
D 

PL

SE
 26

0T
H 

ST

SE
 26

2N
D 

ST

SE
 25

2N
D 

PL

RAMP

167TH PL SE

183RD AVE SE

SE
 25

4T
H 

ST

172ND AVE SE

SE
 26

8T
H 

ST

SE
 25

9T
H 

PL

SE
 26

0T
H 

PL

SE
 27

0T
H 

ST

Pipe Lake

11
24

11
28

11
27

10
63

11
49

10
56

10
57

10
28

10
14

10
29

10
29

10
29

10
29

Th
is 

ma
p i

s i
nt

en
de

d f
or

 pl
an

nin
g p

ur
po

se
s o

nly
. 

Inf
or

ma
tio

n w
as

 co
mp

ile
d f

ro
m 

th
e m

os
t a

cc
ur

ate
 

so
ur

ce
s g

en
er

all
y a

va
ila

ble
.

Dr
aft

 6-
Ye

ar 
Tra

ns
po

rta
tio

n 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

t P
ro

jec
ts 

20
14

-20
19

 

Ci
ty 

of 
Co

vin
gto

n

C
re

at
ed

 B
y:

 S
ha

w
n 

B
uc

k 
04

/2
9/

20
13

.

10
29

10
29

10
29

10
29

10
29

10
29

ATTACHMENT 2

75 of 131



City of Covington 
2014-2019 6 Year TIP 
Project Descriptions 

 
Capital Improvement Project Priorities 
 
 
1. CIP 1127 SE 272nd Street between Jenkins Creek and 185th Place SE  

 
This project is to widen and reconstruct a portion 
of SE 272nd Street between Jenkins Creek and 
185th Place SE.  This project will include the 
crossing of Jenkins Creek with a new structure for 
the stream, widening the street from 2-lanes to 5-
lanes including curb and gutter, 8’ sidewalks, 
access control features, landscaping and 
provisions for u-turns.   

 
 
 
2. CIP 1028    SE 240th Street, 196th Ave SE and SE Wax Road Overlay  

 
This project will overlay SE 240th Street from 
180th Ave SE to 196th Avenue SE, 196th Avenue 
SE from SE 240th Street to SE Wax Road and SE 
Wax Road from 193rd Avenue SE to 196th Avenue 
SE. This project is fully funded and scheduled to 
be completed in the late summer of 2013.    
 
 
 
 

3. CIP 1029  Citywide Intersection Safety Project – 10 Locations  
This project is part of the WSDOT City Safety 
Program that is focused on intersection safety. The 
project will do safety improvements to 10 
locations throughout the city. These improvements 
vary at each location but may include 
rechannelization, adding warning beacons and 
pavement markings; improving sight distance, and 
crosswalks; upgrading signs, sidewalks and ADA 
access points. The intersections are SE 272nd 
Street / 168th Place SE, SE 272nd Street / 172nd 
Place SE, 168th Place SE /169th Place SE, SE 
270th Place / 174th Avenue SE, SE 256th Street / 180th Avenue SE, SE 267th Street / 
192nd Avenue SE, SE 261st Street / 180th Avenue SE, SE 268th Street / 164th Avenue 
SE, SE Wax Road / 180th Ave SE and SE 256th / 170th Ave. SE. This project is fully 
funded and scheduled to be completed in 2014.   

 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 3

76 of 131



City of Covington 
2014-2019 6 Year TIP 
Project Descriptions 

 
 
 
4. CIP 1057 156th Avenue SE between SE 272nd Street and SE 261st Place 

 
This project will design and construct the pavement 
rehabilitation of 156th Avenue SE in the vicinity of 
SE 272nd Street and the vicinity of SE 261st Place.  
There is no widening associated with this project.  
The project will consist of pulverizing the existing 
roadway and overlaying with new asphalt.  ADA 
ramps will be upgraded as warranted. 
 
 
 
 
 

5. CIP 1014 Jenkins Creek Park between SE 267th Place and SE 268th Street 
 
This is a non-motorized transportation project that 
will construct a multiuse trail between SE 267th 
Place and SE 268th Street through Jenkins Creek 
Park.  This project will replace the pedestrian bridge 
that was washed out from a storm and once again 
connect neighborhoods to Jenkins Creek Elementary 
as well as provide ADA and bike access to and from 
the downtown core.     
 
 
 
 

6. CIP 1128 SE 272nd Street between 185th Place SE and 192nd Avenue SE 
 
This project is to widen and reconstruct a portion of 
SE 272nd Street between 185th Place SE and 192nd 
Avenue SE.  This project will widen the street from 
2-lanes to 5-lanes including curb and gutter, 8’ 
sidewalks, access control features, landscaping and 
provisions for u-turns.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 3

77 of 131



City of Covington 
2014-2019 6 Year TIP 
Project Descriptions 

 
 
 
7. CIP 1124 185th Place SE Extension - Wax Road/180th Ave SE to SE 272nd Street 

 
This project connects SE Wax Road/180th Avenue 
SE to SE 272nd Street via a new route and alignment 
designated as 185th Place SE.  The street section will 
consist of a 3-lane urban arterial standard with curb, 
gutter and 8’ sidewalks, landscaping strips, 
illumination and stormwater infrastructure.  The 
project will also include crossing Jenkins Creek.  The 
actual route and alignment will be determined during 
design.    
 

 
8. CIP 1063 SE 272nd Street between 160th Avenue SE and 164th Avenue SE 

 
This project provides for design and future 
construction of additional turn lanes, channelization, 
and signal modifications.  Widening SE 272nd Street 
will  require modifications to the existing stream 
crossing at the intersection.  Project length is 800 
feet.  Construct street section consistent with the 
existing SR 516 section including illumination, 
landscaping, 10’ wide sidewalks with street trees in 
planting wells. 

 
 
 
 
9. CIP 1056 SE 256th Street between 172nd Avenue SE and 180th Avenue SE 

CIP 1149 180th Avenue SE between SE 256th Street and SE Wax Road (N)  
 
Portions of these two larger CIP projects (see map) 
are being combined to provide improvements 
adjacent to the new fire station at SE 256th Street and 
180th Avenue SE.  The improvements will include 
widening the north side of SE 256th Street from 180th 
Avenue SE to 176th Avenue SE to match the section 
at 168th Avenue SE.  The frontage along 180th 
Avenue SE will be widened from the intersection to 
Crestwood Elementary School.  

 
 

ATTACHMENT 3

78 of 131



Agenda Item 3 
 Covington City Council  
 Date:  May 14, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:   STATUS AND PROGRESS REPORT ON HAWK SUBAREA PLAN AND 

PLANNED ACTION EIS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
                                          
ATTACHMENTS:    

1. Consultant Timeline for Hawk Subarea Plan & Planned Action EIS 
 
PREPARED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
                              
EXPLANATION: 
Attachment 1 is the current consultant timeline for completion of the Hawk Subarea Plan, the 
Planned Action EIS and ordinance, and the proposed zoning district and comprehensive plan 
amendments for the Hawk Property subarea plan.  The schedule identifies key dates and actions 
and further shows the complexity of each task and why the subarea plan process will take all of 
2013 to complete.  The one reason for the long timeline is that we are guided by legal 
requirements for public notice and comment periods that are part of the Planned Action EIS.  We 
started in February/March with scoping, soliciting public comment on the content of the EIS 
review, held a Community Workshop on March 25th and determined minimum and maximum 
alternatives, in addition to a No Action alternative, to evaluate in the Draft EIS.  After the 
issuance of the Draft EIS in July, additional public review and comments will occur, and a 
preferred alternative will be selected and evaluated in the Final EIS that is scheduled to be 
completed in December.  Public comments received during scoping will be addressed in the 
Draft EIS, and public comments received on the Draft EIS will be addressed in the Final EIS.  
Preparation of the actual Subarea Plan with land use designations, proposed zoning 
classifications, and specific development and design regulations will happen concurrently with 
this Planned Action EIS process.  After we develop the proposed zoning and development 
standards, we are also required to provide a 60 day notice and comment period to the State 
Department of Commerce for any state agency comments.     
 
In addition, it’s our desire and council’s direction to have a fully vetted public participation 
process that provides opportunities for public input rather than a developer, consultant, or staff 
driven proposal for the Subarea Plan.  The identified land use proposal is a blend of the public’s 
suggestions, and includes the developer, consultant and staff’s suggestions which are further 
tempered by what is economically feasible.  The land use proposal was discussed and vetted 
through the Planning Commission after the initial Community Workshop.  The Planning 
Commission selected their desired minimum and maximum intensity alternatives to be used in 
the EIS process at their meeting on April 18th.  The consultant’s next steps are to evaluate the 
land use proposal’s impacts (including traffic and critical areas) based on the alternatives and 
then prepare the Draft EIS for publication and comments.   
 

79 of 131



During the next several months the consultant and staff will be preparing the proposed zoning 
district classifications and specific zoning, development and design regulations to be applied to 
the Hawk subarea.  The Planning Commission will hold several public meetings/study sessions, 
during late summer and early fall, that will allow for public review and comment of the draft EIS 
and zoning regulations.  A joint Planning Commission/City Council work session will be held 
this fall to discuss the Planning Commission’s Subarea Plan recommendation to the Council.  
The City Council will then hold a final public hearing, hopefully in December, on the Subarea 
Plan and the Planned Action EIS.  Subsequently a Development Agreement will be prepared for 
Council adoption that outlines the specific master site plan, standards for implementation, timing 
of infrastructure improvements, design regulations, and long-term Subarea Plan phasing in the 
new Hawk Subarea.  
 
If we keep to our current timeline all subarea planning, zoning district classifications, 
Comprehensive Plan policy amendments, and the outline for development and design regulations 
will be in place by the end of 2013.  Concurrent to the subarea planning process, land owners 
will be required to submit an annexation petition for the 80 acres not currently within the city 
limits, but within the Urban Growth Area (UGA) Boundary.  This petition may be submitted 
anytime after the specific zoning district classifications for the subarea are approved by the City 
Council.                  
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
NA 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
NA 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    _____Ordinance            Resolution  ______Motion      X     Other 
 

Ask questions of staff. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager 
         Finance Director 
                               City Attorney  

80 of 131



Planned 
action eiS

Subarea Plan 

.

January

EIS Scoping

Covington Hawk Property Subarea Plan & EIS Schedule

2013

Preliminary Draft EIS Draft EIS & Draft 
Planned Action 
Ordinance 

Comment 
Period

Draft Preferred Subarea 
Plan & Regulations

Final EIS & Final 
Planned Action 

Ordinance 



Joint City Council & 
Planning Commission 

Public Meeting

Adopted  
Plan & 

Regulations

City Council Briefings

Kick off Team 
Meeting

Community 
Workshop

Planning Commission 
Workshop

Schedule Prepared: March 21, 2013

February MarCh aPril May June July auguSt SePteMber OCtOber nOveMber DeCeMber

Background and 
Code Analysis

Concept Plan 
Development

Land Use & Zoning Regulations

Planning Commission 
Public Hearing

City Council Public 
Hearing & Meeting

Draft Plan

Annexation & Fiscal 
Analysis

Preliminary Draft Plan

Final Preferred Subarea 
Plan & Regulations

Planning Commission 
Study Session

Planning Commission 
Recommendation City Council Study 

Session with 
Planning Commission

ATTACHMENT 1

81 of 131



Agenda Item 4  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: May 14, 2013  
 
SUBJECT:  COUNCIL REPRESENTATION IN MEETINGS WITH UNIVERSITIES 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Derek Matheson, City Manager 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Draft PowerPoint presentation 
 
PREPARED BY:  Derek Matheson, City Manager 
 
EXPLANATION: 
The city has been working to recruit a two-year community or technical college presence for 
Covington Town Center.  As first steps, Green River Community College began offering 
continuing education courses in Covington City Hall late last year, and Renton Technical 
College recently signed an agreement with the Kent School District to offer a medical pathways 
program at Kentlake High School.  At its January 26, 2013, strategic planning summit, the City 
Council decided the city should pursue a four-year university presence for the Town Center, as 
well. 
 
Staff had planned to include the mayor in introductory meetings with representatives from the 
state’s six public four-year universities.  Councilmember Mark Lanza has asked to participate in 
the process, as well.  Staff sees value in including another council representative because the 
process is as political as it is technical. 
  
Attached is a draft PowerPoint presentation for use in introductory meetings. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Do not appoint another council representative 
2. Do not provide feedback on the draft PowerPoint presentation 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution    X     Motion    X     Other 
 

Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to appoint the mayor and Council member _________________ as 
the council’s representatives in meetings with universities. 
 

Provide feedback on the draft PowerPoint presentation. 
 
REVIEWED BY:  Finance Director; City Attorney 

82 of 131



Presentation to  
Four-Year Universities 

2013 
Draft #2; for 5/14/13 Council Packet 

1 

Statistics 

• Founded in 1880s; incorporated in 1997 
• 17,760 people (2012 estimate) 

– One-third under 18 years of age 
– Rapid growth 

• 40% since incorporation 

• 5,817 households (2010 census) 
• 6.5 square miles 

2 

ATTACHMENT 1

83 of 131



Statistics 

• Residents between ages 18 and 64 
(2010): 65% 

• Residents under age 35 (2010): 50% 
• Residents over age 65 (2010): 6%  
• Residents age 25 or older with four years 

or more of college (2010): 23% 
• Residents in family households (2010): 

80% 
3 

Statistics 

• Owner-occupied homes (2010): 83%  
• Average household size (2010): 3.02 
• Total employment (2006): 3,610 
• Average wage for jobs in Covington 

(2004): $26,700 
• Median household income (2010): 

$90,285 

4 

84 of 131



Regional Commercial Center 

• Costco 
• Home Depot 
• Walmart 
• Fred Meyer 
• Kohl’s 
• Petco 
• Numerous others 

5 

Regional Heath Care Center 

• MultiCare 
– Four-story clinic 
– Urgent care center 
– Emergency room 
– 58-bed hospital (design 

phase) 

• UW Medicine / Valley 
Medical Center 
– Two, two-story clinics 
– Urgent care center 

• Independent offices 

6 

85 of 131



Regional Education Center 

• Kent School District 
– Seven schools in city limits 

• 1 high school – Kentwood High 
School 

• 2 middle schools 
• 4 elementary schools 

– Three schools just outside city 
limits 

• 1 high school – Kentlake High 
School 

• 2 elementary schools 

• Tahoma High School adjacent 
to city limits 
 7 

Regional Education Center 

• Community & Technical Colleges 
– Green River Community College in Auburn 

and Kent 
• Continuing education courses in Covington 

– Renton Technical College 
• “Medical Pathways” partnership with Kent School 

District at Kentlake High School 

8 

86 of 131



Regional Transportation System 
• Access 

– Easy access from:  
• State Route 18 
• Interstate 5 
• Interstate 90 

• Roads 
– $40M road building 

program 
• 168th/165th 

• 272nd  
• 180th/Wax 
• 164th/256th – APWA & 

ASCE award winner 
9 

Regional Transportation System 

• Transit 
– King County 

Metro Transit 
• Half hourly 

service to Kent 
Station 

– Sound Transit 
• Commuter rail 

nearby 

10 

87 of 131



Growing Parks System 
• Park and trail amenities for staff and 

students 
– 194 acres of open space 

• 107 public 
• 87 private 

– 21 developed parks 
• 4 public 
• 17 private 

– Award-winning Aquatic Center 
– Close to Lake Meridian, Lake 

Wilderness, and Lake Sawyer 
regional parks 

– Close to Soos Creek and Green River 
regional trails 

11 

Growing Parks System 

12 

88 of 131



Growing Parks System 

13 

Growing Parks System 

14 

89 of 131



Growing Parks System 

• Recreation 
programs 
– Fun, free family 

events 
• Covington Days 
• Summer Concert 

Series 
• KidsFest 
• National Night Out 
• Hollydaze 

 
15 

Safe Neighborhoods 

• Safe, family-oriented 
neighborhoods 

• Views of Mount Rainier 
throughout 

 

16 

90 of 131



Vision, Mission, and Goals 

17 

Vision, Mission, and Goals 

• Relevant Goals 
– Economic Development: Encourage and support a 

business community that is committed to Covington 
for the long-term and offers diverse products and 
services, family wage jobs, and a healthy tax base to 
support public services. 

– Town Center: Establish Covington Town Center as a 
vibrant residential, commercial, educational, social, 
and cultural gathering place that is safe, pedestrian-
friendly, well-designed, and well-maintained. 

18 

91 of 131



Vision, Mission, and Goals 

• Other goals 
– Youth and Families: Provide city services, programs and facilities such 

as parks and recreation and human services that emphasize and meet 
the needs of Covington’s youth and families. 

– Neighborhoods: Establish and maintain neighborhoods that offer a 
variety of housing options that are diverse, safe, accessible, and well-
designed. 

– Municipal Services: Plan, develop, implement, and maintain high 
quality capital infrastructure and services that reflect the needs of a 
growing community. 

– Customer Service: Recruit, support, and retain a professional team of 
employees, volunteers, and stakeholders who offer outstanding 
customer service, ensure stewardship of the public’s money, and 
promote the City. 

19 

Economic Development Strategy 

• First decade → focus on building tax base 
• Second decade → focus on building a 

sense of place 
 
 

20 

92 of 131



Economic Development Strategy 

• Downtown Plan is core economic 
development effort 
– Larger, auto-oriented downtown 
– Smaller, pedestrian-oriented town center 

 

21 

Town Center Strategy  

22 

93 of 131



Town Center Strategy  

23 

Town Center Strategy  

• Town Center vision 
– Mix of uses  
– Multiple stories 
– Street-front retail and restaurants 
– Public park, public plaza, and 

pedestrian/bicycle trail connections 
– Civic buildings 

 

24 

94 of 131



Town Center Strategy  

• Town Center attributes 
– 81 acres 
– Large commercial parcels and small 

residential parcels 
• Most easily developable parcels = 23.2 acres  

– Ashton Property 
– Covington Elementary School property 

– “Town Center” or “TC” zoning 
• Allows a wide variety of uses in formats that 

support the vision.  

25 

What the City Offers a University  

• What the city offers a university (or a 
developer from whom a university leases 
space): 
– A bold vision backed by a unanimous City 

Council and progressive Management Team 
– An outstanding reputation for collaboration 

and regional partnerships 
– Generous and flexible zoning and 

development regulations 

26 

95 of 131



What the City Offers a University  

– Building-code provisions that allow five-story 
wood-frame-over-concrete construction 

– A willingness to explore alternative means to 
achieve our goals, including entering into a 
development agreement to modify existing 
zoning and development regulations through 
prescribed deviations to existing regulations 

– A willingness to fund the preparation of 
development concepts if funding becomes 
available 
 27 

What the City Offers a University  

– A willingness to prepare a SEPA planned action if 
funding becomes available 

– A willingness to expedite permit approvals 
– A desire to partner on an already-funded study to 

determine the Town Center concept’s economic 
impact (including job creation and tax-revenue 
generation) and infrastructure costs 

• The information will position the city to seek the grants 
necessary to fund Town Center infrastructure and catalyze 
private investment 

 

28 

96 of 131



What the City Offers a University  

– The ability to exercise a city-owned “right of 
first offer” to purchase a 17-acre surplus 
school property from the Kent School District 

– A potential partnership to build a new city hall 
– A property tax exemption program that 

incentivizes mixed-use development with 
residential dwellings 

– An ability to pursue jointly federal, state, and 
other grant money to build infrastructure such 
as streets, parks, and utilities 
 
 

29 

What the City Offers a University  

– Currently pursuing purchase of key park and trail 
parcels 

– An ability to pursue jointly tax-increment financing 
programs if/as funded by the State Legislature 

– New sewer infrastructure available in 2014 – The 
Soos Creek Water and Sewer District is investing $40 
million over the next two years to add sewers to areas 
not currently served and increase capacity in the 
Town Center and larger downtown area 
 

 
30 

97 of 131



Summary 

• Covington is the ideal location and partner for a 
four-year university: 
– Solid demographics 
– Regional commercial center 
– Regional education center 
– Regional transportation system 
– Growing parks system 
– Safe neighborhoods 
– Bold vision and commitment 
– Outstanding reputation for collaboration/partnerships 

31 

Questions 

• Do you have plans to expand via an offsite 
location such as a branch campus or university 
center? 

• What do your students and staff want from an 
offsite location? 

• Is Covington Town Center viable for an offsite 
location? 

• What information do you need from us? 
• What are the next steps? 

32 

98 of 131



Contact Information 

• Derek Matheson, City Manager, (253) 480-2405, 
dmatheson@covingtonwa.gov  

• Richard Hart, Community Development Director, 
(253) 480-2441, rhart@covingtonwa.gov  
 

33 

99 of 131

mailto:dmatheson@covingtonwa.gov
mailto:rhart@covingtonwa.gov


Agenda Item 5  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: May 14, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:  PRESENTATION ON 2012 YEAR END FINANCIALS.  
 
PREPARED BY:  Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S): 
 1. 2012 Fourth Quarter and Annual Report 
 2.  Quarterly Performance Report Charts for All Funds 
 3. Major Revenue Comparison 
  
EXPLANATION: 
Attached are reports and charts for each fund explaining the status of each fund.  
 
It is the policy of the City and a requirement of state law (RCW 35A.34.240) to provide financial 
reports to the governing body on a quarterly basis.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
No impact. This is an update on 2012 operational activity through fourth quarter as compared to 
budget. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:           Ordinance            Resolution  _____Motion   __X___Other 
 

ASK QUESTIONS OF STAFF. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager 

100 of 131



 

 

 The fiscal cliff was avoided at the last minute, but payroll taxes will 
rise for all workers. 

 December US employment grew by 155,000 jobs; October and No‐
vember employment data were revised up by a total of 14,000. 

 Real disposable income rose by 0.8% in November. 

 Washington’s labor and housing markets continue to improve. 

 Washington’s personal income growth is above average. 

 Major General Fund‐State revenue collections for the December 11, 
2012—January 10, 2013 collection period were $19.3 million (1.7%) 
higher than the November forecast.  

 Cumulative General Fund‐State collections are now $92.1 million 
(3.2%) greater than forecasted.  

 The $54.1 million positive variance in Revenue Act collections could 
still be partially reversed next month, but the $35.3 million positive 
variance in real estate excise tax collections should remain largely 
intact.  

Economic & Revenue Summary 
~WA State Economic & Revenue Forecast Council  

2012 Fourth Quarter 

All major revenue categories were ahead of prior year collections for the first 
time since the start of the Great Recession in 2008. This was especially helpful 
for the General Fund which is the major supporter of the debt service payment 
for  the  2007  transportation  bonds.  Coupled  with  under‐budgeted  expendi‐
tures,  ending  fund  balances were  higher  than  projected  in most  funds.  The 
Cumulative Reserve Fund remains over $1 million,   the General Fund fund bal‐
ance  is  in excess of 40% of annual expenditures and  the Surface Water  fund 
continues to be healthy. While the Street Fund and the Parks Fund remain on 
the watch list, this strong ending to 2012 bodes well moving forward into 2013.     

Property Tax 2 

Real Estate Excise Tax 2 

Retail Sales and Use Tax  3 

Utility Tax 3 

General Fund 4 

Public Works 5 

Development Services 5 

Parks and Recreation 5 

Inside this issue: 

20
12
 F
o
u
rt
h
 Q

u
ar
te
r 
 

 

C
I
T
Y
 
O

F
 
C

O
V

I
N

G
T
O

N
 

December 31, 2012 

 

Cash and Investments 6 

Capital Investment Program 7 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

‐ Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 

ATTACHMENT 1

101 of 131



 

 

Page 2 2012 FOURTH QUARTER  

Property  tax  is  collected by 
King County and distributed 
on a daily basis to all taxing 
agencies within  the  county. 
Since taxes are due on April 30 and 
October  30  each  year,  the  major 
distributions  are  realized  in  early 
May and November.  

Collections  for  the  fourth  quarter 
were $1,110,349 bringing the total to 
$2,363,948 or 101.1% of forecast.   

Property  tax  is  the  most  stable 
source of revenue the City has. It  is 
one  leg of the “three  legged” stool 
which the General Fund relies on for 

revenue.  The  other  two  legs  are 
sales tax and utility tax.  

Property  taxes  are  unrestricted. 
This means there are no restrictions 
on what the revenue can be used to 
pay  for  within  the  City.  Currently 
property taxes are allocated 100% to 
the General Fund.  

This  2011  levy  for  2012  collection  is  
$2,340,000  and  the  levy  rate  is 
$1.48/$1,000 assessed value.   

The  City’s  assessed  valua‐
tion  is  $1.579  billion—a  de‐
crease of $142 million or 8.3% 
over the previous year.  

The cap for property tax collections 
is $2.10/$1,000 assessed value.    

 

 

 

of  one‐half  percent  (two  quarter 
percents).  

Through year end, collections are at 
$515,941  or  147.4%  of  budget.  The 
Home Depot Shopping Center Com‐

REET  is  a  restricted  revenue  dedi‐
cated to paying debt service on the 
2007  transportation  bonds  and 
loans  from  the  Public Works  Trust 
Fund.  This  tax  is  levied by  the City 
on all sales of real estate at the rate 

plex  sale  contributed  to  the  large 
amount.  The  budget  for  2012  is 
$325,000.  

Through  December  there were  84 
new home sales, 195 existing home 

sales, 48 land only sales,  
two  building  sales,  and 
nine commercial sales.   

A  combination of  rising  
prices  and  low  interest 
rates  has  spurred  the  
housing market forward 
in recent months.  

Property Tax 

2010 2011 2012 

 $   1,976,819 $ 2,339,013 $2,363,948    

Real Estate Excise Tax (REET) 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2008 113  128  156  189  238  272  306  351  395  444  486  515 

2009 22  36  65  90  111  136  170  195  221  251  284  306 

2010 20  32  58  91  116  174  202  228  243  250  272  322 

2011 140  154  171  192  222  260  288  308  334  346  366  390 

2012 25  198  208  233  278  301  344  376  403  436  471  516 

$0

$100

$200

$300

$400

$500

$600

$ 
in

 t
ho

us
an

d
s 

(0
00

).
 

2012 Budget

102 of 131



 

 

DECEMBER 31,  2012 

Sales  and  Use  Tax  is  the  largest 
revenue  source  available  to  the 
City.  It  currently  supports  the Gen‐
eral Fund at 84% and the Parks and 
Recreation Fund at 16%.   The fourth 
quarter  (on  a  cash  basis)  is  above 
2011  levels  by  $235,808  or 
8.0%.    Total  collections  are  at  
$3,179,326 or 111.6%. 

In year over year comparisons, 
retail  sales  increased by 6.8%, 
construction  increased  39.7%, 
food services was up 3.5%, and 
all other categories decreased 
1.3%.  

While the  “all other” category 
ended the year down from 
2011, this is a small dollar cate‐
gory so the  impact is negligi‐
ble ($4,188). 

2012 collections are higher 
than any year on record. Retail 
has seen positive increases for 

17 months.  Construction and food 
services  turned negative on a 
monthly basis but overall they are 
still ahead of last year cumulatively.   

The national economy is finally 
showing signs of recovery in hous‐

ing and manufacturing. Consumer 
confidence is a little lower yet con‐
sumer spending is driving the econ‐
omy. In addition, construction 
should remain stable through 2013.  

* does not include interest and penalties of $1,224 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 SWM   

         

The  City  imposes  a  utility  tax  on  electrical  energy, 
natural gas, brokered natural gas,  solid waste,  cable 
television, and telephone at the rate of 6.0%. 

The  utility  tax  supports  the  general  fund  including 
debt service, streets, parks and parks CIP. 

The fourth quarter is higher than 2011 by  $217,841. All 
categories are showing stronger on a year over year 
basis.  Total collections are at 99.6% (or $2,003,604) of 
budget.  SWM was added in 2012.  

MuniServices  is  in process of conducting an audit of 
electricity and natural gas . 

The  accompanying  chart  reflects 
the changes  in  revenue  from 2011 
to 2012. 

Page 3 

Retail Sales & Use Tax 

          Utility Tax 

Utility  2011  2012 

 Electricity  $617,364  $677,986 

 Natural Gas  334,737  345,364 

 Solid Waste  124,008  158,419 

 Cable  240,339  267,999 

 Telephone  469,316  505,398 

  0  48,437 

Total  $1,785,763  $2,003,604 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2010 219  544  740  950  1,171  1,391  1,617  1,851  2,125  2,347  2,575  2,795 

2011 232  546  742  941  1,185  1,414  1,648  1,895  2,192  2,440  2,694  2,944 

2012 247  586  814  1,051  1,305  1,556  1,818  2,068  2,371  2,649  2,925  3,179 

3‐yr AVG 233  559  765  981  1,220  1,454  1,694  1,864  2,144  2,376  2,613  2,843 

$0

$500

$1,000

$1,500

$2,000

$2,500

$3,000

$3,500
$ 

in
 th

ou
sa

nd
s 

(0
00

). 

CUMULATIVE

2012 BUDGET

103 of 131



 

 

in  spending  of  2.3%  or  $175,113 
over  the  same  period  last  year.  
This reduction is due in part to the 
accounting changes made.* 

Overall, 88.6% of  the budget was 
spent.  

 Beginning  fund  balance  is 
$3,004,967—an  increase  of 
$654,021. This  is a  result of under 
spending  and  increased  revenues 
during  2011.  It  looks  for  certain 
that  fund  balance  will  again  in‐
crease for 2013.  

Revenues  through  December  are 
102.0%  of  budget  or  $8.4 million. 
During  the  last  quarter,  almost 
$2.8  million  in  revenue  (or  33%) 
was collected.  This exceeded 2011 
by  $175,758.  The  largest  portion 
collected was property  tax at $1.1 
million.  Sales  tax  was  second  at 
$718,000 and utility  tax was  third 
at $549,000.   The remaining reve‐
nues came in at $411,000.  

Total  expenditures  including 
transfers  out  through  December 
are $7,776,785. This  is an  increase 

*Interfund  payments  are  now  be‐
ing netted against expenditures to 
show the true cost of general fund 
expenditures.  This  reduces  overall 
revenue and expenditures.  

Page 4 2012 FOURTH QUARTER  

GENERAL FUND  

GENERAL FUND DEPARTMENT BUDGET UPDATE 

          

Department YTD - 2011 % of Budget YTD - 2012 % of Budget 

 City Council 98,174  87.2%  $  337,173  84.7% 

 Municipal Court 611,667  121.7%  563,386  85.1% 

 City Manager 860,540  98.1%  894,384  94.6% 

 Finance 494,645  97.7%  521,567  99.3% 

 Legal 66,253  77.0%  61,859  77.3% 

 Personnel 343,991  103.5%  341,952  95.0% 

 Central Services 896,656  96.2%  482,789  53.0% 

 Law Enforcement 2,810,420  93.0%  2,919,182  94.7% 

 Community Development 354,986  81.4%  313,167  80.3% 

 Operating Transfers Out 1,064,339  91.8%  1,341,326  94.4% 

TOTAL $   7,601,671  95.1%  $   7,776,785  88.6% 

104 of 131



 

 

DECEMBER 31,  2012 Page 5 

Public  Works  consists  of  Street 
Operations  and  Surface  Water 
Management (SWM).  

Street  Operations  is  funded  by 
franchise fees received from Com‐
cast  and  a motor  vehicle  fuel  ex‐
cise tax—gas tax.  

Franchise  fees  are  slightly  over 
forecast at 101.0% or $200,952. To‐
tal  operating  revenues  are 
$667,108. Other  financing sources 
including  transfers  are  $366,952. 
At $1,034,690, this puts total reve‐
nues at  106.5%  for  the end of  the 
year.  

The  gas  tax  is  running  under 

budget. This could be due  to sev‐
eral  factors  including  the  econ‐
omy, higher mileage cars, or  inac‐
curate forecasting. The forecast is 
generated  through Municipal  Re‐
search  Services  Corporation 
(MRSC).  The  amount  received  to 
date  is  97.0%  ($360,567)  of 
budget. This  is  lower than 2011 by 
about  $5,654.  Fuel  taxes  have 
been declining since Dec 2009.   

Total  expenditures  are  under 
budget. Total expenditures are at 
91.2%  or  $982,220.  (a  spending 
freeze began in July).    

SWM  is primarily  funded  through 

drainage  fees  that  are  collected 
by  King  County.  The  City  has  re‐
ceived $1,784,919 or 104.7%.   Total 
revenues  are  at  114.4%  or 
$2,455,097.  

Operating  expenditures  are  at 
96.2% or $1,423,625. With transfers 
out  and  debt  service  costs  total 
uses are $1,864,635 or 97.7%.  

Fund  balances  for  Street  Opera‐
tions  increased by $229,607 while 
increasing in SWM by $590,462. 

  

102.1% has been received.  

The number of permits for single 
family residences are at 141 com‐
pared to 40 in 2011. New commer‐
cial is at five compared to six in 
2011.  

Operational expenditures came in 
at 98.1% or $950,746. Including 
other financing uses of $234,861 

Overall revenue ended the year 
right on target.  Licenses and per‐
mits were well above budget but 
charges for services lagged in 
three main areas—commercial 
construction inspection, and resi‐
dential and commercial plan re‐
view.  

Year end shows $1,404,495 or 

the  percentage is raised to 
107.8%.  

Overall revenues exceed expendi‐
tures by $453,750. This will add to 
the beginning fund balance for 
2013.  

 

 

PUBLIC WORKS 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

Parks is divided into four divisions: 
aquatics,  maintenance,  recrea‐
tion,  and  parks  administration. 
Revenues are derived  from a por‐
tion  of  sales  tax  (16%),  aquatics 
revenue, and some miscellaneous 
revenues  such  as  rentals  and  in‐
terest earnings.  

Revenue  came  in  ahead  of  fore‐
cast  at  114.7%  or  $1,359,717.  All 

revenue  categories  exceeded 
forecast.  Sales  tax  came  in  at 
113.4%  or  $516,169.  Aquatics  reve‐
nue stands at 114.8% or $573,652—
$106,400 above 2011.  

Attendance ended the year ahead 
of 2011 by 11,752 at 92,949. Except 
for  January  all months  exceeded 
the  prior year.  

Overall  operating  expenditures 

for the four divisions are 101.0% or 
$1,120,417.  Overall  uses  are 
$1,270,283  or  100.1%.  Revenues  
exceeded  expenditures  by  
$89,433.   

The  2012  ending  fund  balance  is 
$321,391,  which  is  an  increase  of 
$89,433 over 2011.  

 

PARKS and RECREATION 

105 of 131



 

 

Page 6 2012 FOURTH QUARTER  

Total  cash  and  investments  total  
$11,956,134. This exceeds Septem‐
ber  2011 by  $1.6 million.  The  larg‐
est gainer  is the General Fund fol‐
lowed  by  Development  Services 
and the Surface Water Fund.   

The  Local  Government  Invest‐
ment Pool (LGIP) is currently earn‐
ing 0.23%. The City has $9,798,370 
invested with  the  LGIP.  The  LGIP 
invests  in short  term securities.  It 
is comparable to an SEC regulated 
Rule 2a‐7 money market fund and 
offers  100%  liquidity  to  its partici‐
pants.  

Investments  outside  the  LGIP  to‐
tal $1,857,195 (market value).  That 
is  split  between  US  Government 
Agencies    at  $1,358,002  and Mu‐
nicipal Securities at $499,193.00.  

The   weighted yield of the portfo‐
lio with the state pool is 0.39% and 
without  the  pool  is  1.27%.  (5.5 
times the pool rate) Average days 
to maturity with  the  pool  is  409 
days or 1.12 years and without the 
pool is 468 days or 1.28 years.  

Cash on hand of  $288,581  is  kept 
at US Bank  and various petty cash 
funds throughout the City.  

The  chart  below  reflects  the 
amount  of  cash  and  investments 
allocated  to each  fund within  the 
City compared to 2011. This  is rec‐
onciled and updated on a monthly 
basis.  

Cash & Investments 

TOTAL GENERAL LEDGER ACCOUNTS  

 
as of 12/31/11  as of 12/31/12  ∆ 

GENERAL FUND   $2,216,057.43    $2,882,291.17   $666,233.74  

STREET FUND     272,685.28      294,106.42   $21,421.14  

CONTINGENCY FUND  420,114.32  414,911.07  ($5,203.25) 

CUMULATIVE RESERVE FUND    1,427,664.06   1,378,123.19  ($49,540.87) 

REET 1ST 1/4% FUND     28,010.08      50,333.19   $22,323.11  

REET 2ND 1/4% FUND      28,010.08   50,333.20  $22,323.12  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FUND  1,586,016.85  2,030,267.82  $444,250.97  

PARKS FUND     216,754.96      264,897.46   $48,142.50  

LID 99‐01 GUARANTY FUND      52,258.32       52,350.49   $92.17  

LID 99.01 FUND       ‐0‐   ‐0‐    ‐0‐ 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM    1,790,908.62     1,960,205.26   $169,296.64  

SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT    1,687,971.39   2,103,685.16  $415,713.77  

UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE     135,934.03      150,276.06   $14,342.03  

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT  357,312.65  324,088.33  ($33,224.32) 

           

TOTAL ALL FUNDS   $10,319,967.59    $11,956,133.61   $1,636,166.02  

106 of 131



 

 

DECEMBER 31,  2012 Page 7 

During 2012, six projects had substan‐
tial activity.  

$32,296 was transferred from project 
1004—SE 256th St East Gateway—to 
the  Surface  Water  Management 
Fund  as part of  the  closeout of  this 
project.   

Covington  Community  Park  (1010) 
spent  over  $1.5  million  in  2012  and 
received  about  $1.1  million  in  reve‐
nues. This project will be completed 
in  2013 with  ground  breaking  slated 

for June.  

The  Road  Overlay  project  (1028)
received  proceeds  from  a  land 
sale in the amount of $42,106.  

Project  1039,  the  SR  516  Safety 
Widening, was completed  in 2012. 
A  portion  of  their  fund  balance 
($0.5  million)  was  transferred  to 
project 1127.  

$81,125 was  transferred  from pro‐
ject  1125—SE  270th  (172nd—

Capital Investment Program 

Project #  Project Description  Revenues   Expenditures 

1010  Covington Community Park  $1,122,616  $1,531,115 

1039  SR 516 Safety Widening  $5,938  $500,635 

1127  SR 516 Widening at Jenkins Creek  $1,103,873  $645,029 

1004  SE 256th St East Gateway    $32,296 

1028  Annual Road Overlay  $42,106.25   

1125  Se 270th (172nd—168th)    $81,125 

16720 SE 271st St 
Suite 100 

Covington, WA 98042 

C ITY  OF  COVINGTON  
F INANCE  DEPARTMENT  

Phone: 253-480-2400 
Fax: 253-638-1122 

 
Rob Hendrickson ‐ Finance Director 
Casey Parker ‐ Senior Accountant 
Lindsay Hagen ‐ Finance Specialist 

Staci Cles ‐ Accounting Clerk 

168th)—to  the  Surface  Water  Man‐
agement Fund as part of the closeout 
of this project.   

Project 1127—SR 516 Widening at Jen‐
kins Creek—received over $1.1 million 
in revenue (a portion  from the close‐
out  of  project  1039  noted  above), 
$556,801  in grant  revenue and a por‐
tion from mitigation fees.  

Expenditures  for  this  project  are  at 
$645,029.  The  project  is  slated  for 
completion in early 2014. 

107 of 131



ATTACHMENT 2

108 of 131



109 of 131



110 of 131



111 of 131



112 of 131



113 of 131



ATTACHMENT 3

114 of 131



Agenda Item 6 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: May 14, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:  2013 FIRST QUARTER FINANCIAL REPORTS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S):   

1. 2013 First Quarter Report 
2. Quarterly Performance Reports by Fund 
3. Major Revenue Comparison   
4. Current Investment Listing 

 
PREPARED BY:   
Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
EXPLANATION: 
It is the policy of the City and a requirement of state law (RCW 35A.34.240) to provide financial 
reports to the governing body on a quarterly basis.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
N/A 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
None. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:           Ordinance            Resolution  _____Motion   ___X__Other 
 

ASK QUESTIONS OF STAFF  
 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager 

115 of 131



 

 

 U.S. employment growth in March was the weakest since June 2012. 

 Real GDP growth for fourth quarter 2012 was revised from 0.1% to 
0.4%. 

 Real disposable income increased 0.7% in February after declining 
4.0% in January.  

 Washington employment continues to grow at a moderate rate.  

 Washington home construction and prices continue to recover. 

 Washington personal income growth has been strong. 

 Major General Fund‐State revenue collections for the March 11—
April 10, 2013 collection period were $28.7 (2.9%) higher than the 
March forecast.  

 Most of this month’s variance was due to an unexpected $22.0 mil‐
lion one‐time payment for taxable activity in prior periods. Without 
this payment, collections would have been $6.7 million (0.7%) higher 
than forecasted. 

 Washington construction growth has now turned positive.     

Economic & Revenue Summary 
~WA State Economic & Revenue Forecast Council  

2013 First Quarter 

The first quarter is a mixed bag on revenues. There are a few highpoints 
(sales tax), some not so high points (utility tax), and some  in‐between 
points  (permits).  Since  this  is  early  in  the  year,  there  are  no  real  red 
flags, just some watch points. On the expenditure side, percentages fol‐
low the same spending pattern and there are no  issues that stand out. 
For  some  good  news,  see page  5  for  an  update on  the MuniServices 
Comcast fee review.   

Property Tax 2 

Real Estate Excise Tax 2 

Retail Sales and Use Tax  3 

Utility Tax 3 

General Fund 4 

Public Works 5 

Development Services 5 

Parks and Recreation 5 

Inside this issue: 

20
13
 F
ir
st
 Q

u
ar
te
r 
 

 

C
I
T
Y
 
O

F
 
C

O
V

I
N

G
T
O

N
 

March 31, 2013 

 

Cash and Investments 6 

Capital Investment Program 7 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

‐ Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 

ATTACHMENT 1

116 of 131



 

 

Page 2 2013 FIRST QUARTER  

Property  tax  is  col‐
lected  by  King  County 
and  distributed  on  a 
daily  basis  to  all  taxing 
agencies  within  the 
county. Since  taxes are 
due on April 30 and Oc‐
tober 30 each year, the major distri‐
butions  are  realized  in  early  May 
and November.  

Through  1st  quarter  the  City  re‐
ceived  $71,220  or  3.0%  of  budget. 
This  is  just  a  fraction  of  the  as‐
sessed  levy  for  the  year  and  is 
$13,556 below 2012 first quarter col‐
lections.  There was a $32,000 prop‐
erty  tax  refund  in  January  that has 
yet to be indentified. 

Property  tax  is  the  most  stable 
source of revenue the City has. It  is 
one  leg of the “three  legged” stool 
which the General Fund relies on for 
revenue.  The  other  two  legs  are 
sales tax and utility tax.  

Property  taxes  are  unrestricted. 
This means there are no restrictions 
on what the revenue can be used to 
pay  for  within  the  City.  Currently 
property taxes are allocated 100% to 
the General Fund.  

This  2012  levy  for  2013 
collection  is    $2,340,000 
and  the  levy  rate  is $1.55/
$1,000  assessed  value. 
The  cap  for  property  tax 
collections  is  $2.10/$1,000 
assessed value.    

The  City’s  assessed  valuation  is 
$1.529  billion—a  decrease  of  $48.5 
million  or  3.07%  over  the  previous 
year.  

**Note:  Since  2009,  overall  as‐
sessed  valuation  has  declined  al‐
most 28% or over $582.6 million!**   

 

 

on all sales of real estate at the rate 
of  one‐half  percent  (two  quarter 
percents).  

Through  the  first  quarter,  collec‐

REET  is  a  restricted  revenue  dedi‐
cated to paying debt service on the 
2007  transportation  bonds  and 
loans  from  the  Public Works  Trust 
Fund.  This  tax  is  levied by  the City 

tions  are  at  $116,773  or  32.2%  of 
budget.  The  budget  for  2013  is 
$363,000.  

Through March  there were 35 new 
home  sales,  30  exist‐
ing  home  sales,    and 
two land only sales.   

Generally,  existing 
home  sales  drive 
REET, but commercial 
sales  add  revenue 
rapidly  and  in  large 
chunks.  

 

Property Tax 

2011 2012 2013 

 $   58,349  $   84,776  $   71,220 

Real Estate Excise Tax (REET) 

 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2009 22  36  65  90  111  136  170  195  221  251  284  306 

2010 20  32  58  91  116  174  202  228  243  250  272  322 

2011 140  154  171  192  222  260  288  308  334  346  366  390 

2012 25  198  208  233  276  300  343  375  402  435  467  503 

2013 45  69  117 

$0

$100

$200

$300

$400

$500

$600

$ 
in

 t
ho

us
an

d
s 

(0
00

).
 

2013 Budget

117 of 131



 

 

MARCH 31,  2013 

Sales  and  Use  Tax  is  the  largest 
revenue  source  available  to  the 
City.  It  currently  supports  the Gen‐
eral Fund at 84% and the Parks and 
Recreation  Fund  at  16%.    The  first 
quarter  (on  a  cash  basis)  is  above 
2012 levels by $65,989 or 8.1%.  Total 
collections  are  at  $880,088  or 

29.5%.  The  budget  for  2013  is 
$2,988,000. 

In  year  over  year  comparisons,  re‐
tail  sales  increased  by  3.9%,  con‐
struction  increased 25.9%,  food ser‐
vices  was  up  3.4%,  and  all  other 
categories increased 30.7%.  

In reviewing  recent history, we 
have to go back to April 2011 to find 
a month where the prior year’s col‐
lections exceeded the current year.  

That’s two years of year over year 
collections eclipsing the prior year. 
This direction appears to be follow‐
ing the state’s trend of being ahead 
of the national recovery.  

A peek ahead at the sec‐
ond quarter: Through 
April, collections continue 

to outpace prior year collections by 
6.8% or $71,082.  The three‐year av‐
erage collection percentage is 34% 
(through April) while the actual 
2013 collection percentage is 37.6%.    

Staff will continue to monitor sales 
tax and keep you apprised of any 
changes good or bad.  

 

The  City  imposes  a  utility  tax  on  electrical  energy, 
natural gas, brokered natural gas,  solid waste,  cable 
television, and telephone at the rate of 6.0%. 

The  utility  tax  supports  the  general  fund  including 
debt service, streets, parks and parks CIP. 

The  first  quarter  is  starting  lower  than  2012  by  
$91,014. Cable and Solid Waste are the only categories 
higher than last year.  The low collections in electricity 
and gas may be attributed to the mild winter and col‐
lection timing.  

The MuniService audit is in proc‐
ess of  ironing out some prelimi‐
nary  legal  issues  before  pro‐
ceeding with the audit. Staff will 
keep  council  apprised  as  this 
audit moves forward.   

Page 3 

Retail Sales & Use Tax 

          Utility Tax 

Utility  2012  2013 

 Electricity  $188,608  $137,725 

 Natural Gas  136,877  88,065 

 Solid Waste  34,643  41,690 

 Cable  58,977  69,446 

 Telephone  144,941  126,977 

Total  $564,046  $473,033 

SWM  ‐0‐  9,130 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2011 232  546  742  941  1,185  1,414  1,648  1,895  2,192  2,440  2,694  2,944 

2012 247  586  814  1,051  1,305  1,556  1,818  2,068  2,371  2,649  2,925  3,179 

2013 265  632  880 

3‐yr AVG 241  577  794  981  1,220  1,454  1,694  1,864  2,144  2,376  2,613  2,843 

$0

$500

$1,000

$1,500

$2,000

$2,500

$3,000

$3,500

$ 
in

 th
ou

sa
nd

s 
(0

00
). 

CUMULATIVE

2013 BUDGET

118 of 131



 

 

the same period  last year.   This  is 
in part due to a payout to Costco 
as part of an agreement.   

Overall,  13.0%  of  the  budget  has 
been spent. Note  in  the chart be‐
low  that  most  departments  are 
well below  the 25% mark, but  the 
City  Council  and  Central  Services 
are  at  45.6%  and  41.9%  respec‐
tively.  These  departments  paid 
some  large  one‐time  charges  in 
January, thus skewing the report‐
ing for the year.  

Police  Services  is  abnormally  low 
and will be billed  in May after the 

Revenues for the first quarter are 
18.7%  of  budget  or  $1.55  million. 
This  is  less  than  2012  levels  by 
about  $147,600*.  Sales  tax,  on  a 
cash  basis,  is  8.1%  or  $65,989 
higher  than  2012  first  quarter 
while utility  tax  is  16.1% or $91,013 
lower than 2012 collections . Prop‐
erty  taxes  are  lower  than  2012. 
The first half of property taxes are 
due April 30.   

Total  expenditures  including 
transfers  out  through March  are 
$1,126,682.  This  is  an  increase  in 
spending  of  6.7%  or  $70,413  over 

first  distribution  of  property  tax 
revenue.   Expenditures would still 
be under  the  25% mark  if  the po‐
lice billing were added.  

 Beginning  fund  balance  is 
$3,506,626—an  increase  of 
$501,659. This  is a  result of under 
spending  and  increased  revenues 
during 2012.  

*Interfund  payments  are  now  be‐
ing netted against expenditures to 
show the true cost of general fund 
expenditures.  This  reduces  overall 
revenue and expenditures.  

Page 4 2013 FIRST QUARTER  

GENERAL FUND  

GENERAL FUND DEPARTMENT BUDGET UPDATE 

          

Department YTD - 2012 % of Budget YTD - 2013 % of Budget 

 City Council 44,167 11.1% 219,073 45.6% 

 Municipal Court 64,109 9.7% 56,613 8.9% 

 City Manager 192,973 20.4% 187,538 19.1% 

 Finance 127,200 24.2% 130,085 24.2% 

 Legal 10,158 12.7% 12,692 16.9% 

 Personnel 82,660 24.8% 82,812 23.2% 

 Central Services 324,456 35.6% 218,407 41.9% 

 Law Enforcement 1,221 0.0% 1,671 0.1% 

 Community Development 81,118 20.8% 63,072 18.9% 

 Operating Transfers Out 128,028 8.4% 154,719 9.8% 

TOTAL $   1,056,269 11.9% $   1,126,682 13.0% 

119 of 131



 

 

MARCH 31,  2013 Page 5 

Public  Works  consists  of  Street 
Operations  and  Surface  Water 
Management (SWM).  

Street  Operations  is  funded  by 
franchise fees received from Com‐
cast  and  a motor  vehicle  fuel  ex‐
cise tax—gas tax.  

Franchise  fees are  right on  target 
at  26.4% or  $52,442. Total operat‐
ing  revenues  are  $143,576  and 
other  financing  sources  are 
$61,722. At  $205,298,  this puts  to‐
tal  revenues  right at 25.1%  for  the 
first quarter.  

The gas tax  is running slightly un‐
der budget. This  could be due  to 
the  economy  or  inaccurate  fore‐

casting. The forecast  is generated 
through  Municipal  Research  Ser‐
vices  Corporation  (MRSC).  The 
amount  received  is  $85,938  or  
23.4%  of  budget.  This  is  slightly‐
higher than 2012 by $2,277.   

Total  expenditures  are  under 
budget for the first quarter. Total 
expenditures  are  at  19.0%  or 
$165,869.  This will  adjust  upward 
as maintenance  and  construction 
season begin  in  the  second quar‐
ter.   

SWM  is primarily  funded  through 
drainage  fees  that  are  collected 
by King  County.  The  City  has  col‐
lected  just a fraction of the budg‐

eted  amount—$53,267  or  3.1%.  
Total  revenues  are  at  3.1%  or 
$54,480.  

Operating  expenditures  are  at 
18.1%  or  $314,106.  There  are  no 
transfers  out  to  report  this  quar‐
ter.  

Fund  balances  for  Street  Opera‐
tions increased by $54,708. Due to 
an  accounting  change  SWM  no 
longer posts a fund balance.  

GOOD  NEWS: MuniServices  com‐
pleted  their  review  of  Comcast’s 
franchise  fees.  The  City  is  owed 
over  $38,000  with  $15,620  ongo‐
ing annually.   

and staff should know in second 
quarter when they will proceed. 
They have been programmed into 
the revenue stream. 

The number of permits for single 
family residences are at 43 com‐
pared to 24 in 2012.  

Revenue is at $274,571 or 20.9% of 
forecast.  Due to timing issues, 
some anticipated revenue from 
permits has not materialized. The 
expectation is that by second 
quarter, permit revenues will be 
on track.  

MultiCare is delayed at this point 

Operational expenditures came in 
at 23.0% or $236,871.  

 Beginning fund balance is 
$2,016,483—an increase of 
$453,750. Higher than forecast 
revenues contributed to this in‐
crease.   

PUBLIC WORKS 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

Parks is divided into four divisions: 
aquatics,  maintenance,  recrea‐
tion,  and  parks  administration. 
Revenues are derived  from a por‐
tion  of  sales  tax  (16%),  aquatics 
revenue, and some miscellaneous 
revenues  such  as  rentals  and  in‐
terest earnings.  

Revenue came in slightly ahead  of 

forecast at 26.3% or $393,445—led 
by sales tax and aquatics revenue.   
Sales  tax  is 29.5% or $140,814 and 
aquatics  revenue  is  $140,495  or 
27.4%.  Both  these  categories  ex‐
ceed  2012  in  year  over  year  re‐
sults.   

Attendance  is  24,267—ahead  of 
2012 by 5,603.  

Overall  operating  expenditures 
for  the  four divisions are  19.3% or  
$292,241.  Operating  revenues  are 
exceeding operating expenditures 
by  $8,039.   

The  beginning  fund  balance  is 
$321,824  which  is  an  increase  of 
$89,433.   

PARKS and RECREATION 

120 of 131



 

 

Page 6 2013 FIRST QUARTER  

Total  cash  and  investments  total  
$12,660,296.  This  exceeds  March 
2012  by  $1.5  million.  The  largest 
gainer  is  the  General  Fund,  fol‐
lowed by SWM, Development Ser‐
vices and the CIP. 

The  Local  Government  Invest‐
ment Pool (LGIP) is currently earn‐
ing  0.14%  (as  of May  1).  The  City 
has  $10,182,521  invested with  the 
LGIP.  The  LGIP  invests  in  short 
term  securities.  It  is  comparable 
to  an  SEC  regulated  Rule  2a‐7 
money  market  fund  and  offers 
100% liquidity to its participants.  

Investments  outside  the  LGIP  to‐
tal  $2,118,521.94  (market  value).  
That  is  split  between US Govern‐
ment Agencies   at $1,360,000 and 
Municipal Securities at $2,105,000.  

The   weighted yield of the portfo‐
lio with the state pool is 0.40% and 
without  the  pool  is  0.96%.  Aver‐
age days to maturity with the pool 
is 675 days or 1.85 years and with‐
out  the  pool  is  752  days  or  2.06 
years.  

Cash on hand  is  kept  at US Bank  
and  various  petty  cash  funds 
throughout the City.  

The  chart  below  reflects  the 
amount  of  cash  and  investments 
allocated  to each  fund within  the 
City compared to 2012. This  is rec‐
onciled and updated on a monthly 
basis.  

Cash & Investments 

TOTAL GENERAL LEDGER ACCOUNTS  

 
as of 03/31/12 as of 03/31/13 ∆ 

GENERAL FUND  $2,868,630.47   $3,365,699.42  $497,068.95  

STREET FUND    266,724.15     313,261.96  $46,537.81  

CONTINGENCY FUND 419,618.43 415,969.83 ($3,648.60) 

CUMULATIVE RESERVE FUND   1,434,187.25    1,376,875.75  ($57,311.50) 

REET 1ST 1/4% FUND 103,763.47 34,549.97 ($69,213.50) 

REET 2ND 1/4% FUND     103,763.47      34,549.97  ($69,213.50) 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FUND 1,734,660.18 2,047,848.43 $313,188.25  

PARKS FUND    190,690.23     322,895.25  $132,205.02  

LID 99-01 GUARANTY FUND     52,258.32      52,373.83  $115.51  

LID 99.01 FUND      145.83       138.58  ($7.25) 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM   2,093,514.86    2,403,510.19  $309,995.33  

SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT 1,416,842.83 1,830,026.46 $413,183.63  

UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE    142,548.30     158,092.50  $15,544.20  

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT    333,456.87     304,503.64  ($28,953.23) 
       

TOTAL ALL FUNDS  $11,160,804.66   $12,660,295.78  $1,499,491.12  

121 of 131



 

 

MARCH 31,  2013 Page 7 

Covington  Community  Park 
(1010) spent $58,086. This pro‐
ject will be  completed  in  2013 
with  ground  breaking  slated 
for June.  

The  Road  Overlay  project 
(1028) spent $625.  

Project 1057—SR 516 Safety 
Widening spent $208.   

Project 1127—SR 516 Widening 
at  Jenkins  Creek—spent 
$38,626. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Capital Investment Program 

16720 SE 271st St 
Suite 100 

Covington, WA 98042 

C ITY  OF  COVINGTON  
F INANCE  DEPARTMENT  

Phone: 253-638-1110 
Fax: 253-638-1122 

 
Rob Hendrickson ‐ Finance Director 
Casey Parker ‐ Senior Accountant 
Lindsay Hagen ‐ Finance Specialist 

Staci Cles ‐ Accounting Clerk 

Project #  Project Description  Revenues   Expenditures 

1010  Covington Community Park  0  $58,086 

1028  Annual Road Overlay  0  $625 

1057  SR 516 Safety Widening  0  $208 

1127  SR 516 Widening at Jenkins Creek  0  $38,626 

122 of 131



ATTACHMENT 2

123 of 131



124 of 131



125 of 131



126 of 131



127 of 131



ATTACHMENT 3

128 of 131



ATTACHMENT 4

129 of 131



  
Covington City Council Meeting 

           Date: May 14, 2013  
 
 
 
 

DISCUSSION OF  
FUTURE AGENDA TOPICS: 

 
 

May 28, 2013 – City Council Special & Regular Meeting  
 

 (Draft Agenda Attached) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

130 of 131



Covington: Unmatched quality of life 
CITY OF COVINGTON 

CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL & REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
www.covingtonwa.gov 

 
Tuesday, May 28, 2013                                                                               City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                   16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
Council will interview Arts Commission applicants beginning at 6:40 p.m. 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER – approximately 7:00 p.m. 
   
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION - NONE 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per speaker.  
Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  May 14, 2013 Special & Regular Meeting Minutes (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson)  
C-3. Appoint Voting Delegate(s) for Association of Washington Cities Annual Business 

Meeting (Council) 
C-4. Covington Community Sports Agreement for Use of Kent School District Facilities 

(Patterson) 
 
REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS 
• Human Services Chair Haris Ahmad:  April 11 and May 9 meetings. 
• Arts Chair Sandy Bisordi:  May 9 meeting. 
• Parks & Recreation Chair Steven Pand:  May 15 meeting. 
• Planning Chair Daniel Key:  May 2 and May 16 meetings. 
• Economic Development Council Co-Chair Jeff Wagner:  April 25 and May 23 meetings. 

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION - Potential Litigation (RCW 42.30.110(1)(i)) 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
1. Consider Appointments to Arts Commission (Council) 
2. Discuss Field Use Fees (Thomas) 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT (*See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section) 
  
ADJOURN  
 
Any person requiring disability accommodation should contact the City of Covington at 253-480-2400 a minimum of 24 hours in 
advance.  For TDD relay service, please use the state’s toll-free relay service (800) 833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 253-
480-2400.  

Draft 
as of 05/09/13 

 

131 of 131

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�

	05-14-13 Regular Meeting
	Tuesday, May 14, 2013                                                                               City Council Chambers
	ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

	APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	Consent Item C-1 Green Sheet 05-14-2013 Minutes Approval
	Consent Agenda Item C-1

	Consent Item 1 Attachment 1 04.23.13 Regular Mtg Minutes
	Consent Item C-2 Green Sheet 05-14-2013 Vouchers Approval
	Consent Agenda Item C-2

	Consent Item 2 Attachment 1
	Item 1 Blue Sheet Final Blue Sheet Adoption of 2012 Building & Fire Codes
	Agenda Item 1

	Item 1 Attachment 1 Ordinance IBC-IFC Adoption FINAL 4-03-13
	Item 1 Attachment 2_Exh 1_Title 15 05 Adoption FINAL 5-14-13 
	15.05.120 Washington State Manufactured Homes (Mobile Homes) Installation Standards – General.
	15.05.130 Washington State Modular Homes and Modular Nonresidential (Commercial) Installation Standards – General.
	15.05.135 Uniform Plumbing Code (UPC) amendments.
	15.05.140 Appeals.

	Item 1 Attachment 3_Exh 2_Amendments to CMC 15 20_SBS Edit
	907.1.2 3 Equipment. Systems and their components shall be listed and approved for the purpose for which they are installed. All new alarm systems shall be addressable. Each device shall have its own address and shall annunciate individual addresses a...
	907.21 Resetting. All fire alarm panels shall be reset only by an approved person.
	907.21.1. Reset Code. The reset code for the fire alarm panel or keypad shall be 3-7-1-2-3-4. The reset code shall not be changed without approval of the Fire Marshalfire code official.
	907.22 Fire Alarm Control Panel. All fire alarm control panels shall be located in the riser room designed and installed in accordance with Section 903.7 or an approved location.

	Item 2 Blue Sheet 05-14-13 6 Yr TIP 2014-2019 Discussion
	Agenda Item 2

	Item 2 ATTACHMENT 1 - Summary Spreadsheet
	Item 2 ATTACHMENT 2 - Map
	Item 2 ATTACHMENT 3 - Project Descriptions
	Item 3 Blue Sheet for Progress Report on Hawk Property Subarea Plan & EIS
	Agenda Item 3

	Item 3 Attachment 1 N Gtwy Ph II Schedule & Timeline 4-16-13
	Item 4 Blue Sheet 05-14-13 University Meetings
	Agenda Item 4

	Item 4 Attachment 1
	Item 5 Blue Sheet 05-14-13 Year End Report
	Agenda Item 5

	Item 5 Attachment 1 2012 Fourth Qtr Report draft
	Economic & Revenue Summary
	~WA State Economic & Revenue Forecast Council 
	2012 Fourth Quarter
	Inside this issue:
	2012 Fourth Quarter 
	City of Covington
	December 31, 2012
	Page #
	2012 Fourth Quarter 
	Property Tax
	Real Estate Excise Tax (REET)
	December 31, 2012
	Page #
	Retail Sales & Use Tax
	          Utility Tax
	Page #
	2012 Fourth Quarter 
	December 31, 2012
	Page #
	PUBLIC WORKS
	DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
	PARKS and RECREATION
	Page #
	2012 Fourth Quarter 
	Cash & Investments
	December 31, 2012
	Page #
	Capital Investment Program
	City of covington
	Finance department

	Item 5 Attachment 2
	Item 5 Attachment 3
	Item 6 Blue Sheet 5_14_13 First Qtr Report
	Agenda Item 6

	Item 6 Attachment 1 2013 First Qtr Report
	Economic & Revenue Summary
	~WA State Economic & Revenue Forecast Council 
	2013 First Quarter
	Inside this issue:
	2013 First Quarter 
	City of Covington
	March 31, 2013
	Page #
	2013 First Quarter 
	Property Tax
	Real Estate Excise Tax (REET)
	March 31, 2013
	Page #
	Retail Sales & Use Tax
	          Utility Tax
	Page #
	2013 First Quarter 
	March 31, 2013
	Page #
	PUBLIC WORKS
	DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
	PARKS and RECREATION
	Page #
	2013 First Quarter 
	Cash & Investments
	March 31, 2013
	Page #
	Capital Investment Program
	City of covington
	Finance department

	Item 6 Attachments 2, 3, 4
	Future Agenda Cover Sheet
	05-28-13 Special for Interviews & Regular Meeting
	Tuesday, May 28, 2013                                                                               City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




